Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology

Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital Saint Petersburg, Florida

> Training Handbook 2023-2024



JOHNS HOPKINS ALL CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL

Table of Contents

Introduction	4
Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital Employment Policies	
Equal Opportunity and Anti-Harassment	4
Culture Statement	4
Core Values	6
Training Program Accreditation Status	6
Training	
Internship Training Committee	6
Training Director	7
Training Philosophy	7
Aims, Competencies and Elements of the Training Program	
Aim of the Program	8
Competencies and Elements of the Program	8
Required Training/Experiential Activities for Elements	10
Training Tracks	10
Clinical Training Activities	11
Neuropsychology Track	11
Autism Spectrum Disorder/Neurodevelopmental Disabilities Track	15
Pediatric Psychology Track	19
Training Policies and Procedures	
Program Responsibilities	24
Rights of Interns	24
Intern Responsibilities	25
Accessibility of Staff to Interns	26
Supervision	26
Training Program Communication	27
Training Duty Hours	27
Evaluation, Due Process, & Grievance Procedures	27
Process of Intern Evaluation	

Insufficient Professional Competence and Inadequate Performance	28
Internship Completion	
Program Completion Requirements	29
Form	
Acknowledgement of Receipt and Agreement to Abide	30
Appendices	
Appendix A: Trainee Competency Evaluation Form	32
Appendix B: Due Process in Action: The Identification and Management of Trainee Problems/Grievances	57

INTRODUCTION

Welcome to the Johns Hopkins All Children's Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology training program. This handbook is intended to provide trainees with the information needed to navigate the program comfortably and facilitate the process of your professional training and development. This document begins with a review of two pertinent Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital employment policies, then moves to a discussion of the purposes, and aims of the training program, expectations and supervision guidelines, evaluation procedures, and grievance policies.

After you review this document and discuss the contents with the Psychology Internship Director, Lauren Gardner, PhD, ABPP (interim director Jennifer Katzenstein, PhD, ABPP), you will sign a form indicating that you have been provided information regarding program policies and procedures, as well as your commitment to abide by the guidelines of the program.

JOHNS HOPKINS ALL CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL EMPLOYMENT POLICIES Equal Employment Opportunity and Anti-Harassment

Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital (JHACH) seeks to provide a workplace free of harassment and discrimination. It is the policy of JHACH to provide equal job opportunities to all people without regard to race, color, religion, creed, gender, gender identity, or expression, age, national origin, ancestry, citizenship, mental or physical ability, sexual orientation, marital status, family status, veteran status, genetic information, or any other basis protected by federal, state or local law. Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital maintains a written Affirmative Action Plan designed to ensure employment opportunities for qualified women and minorities. JHACH takes claims of unlawful discrimination and harassment seriously, will respond promptly to complaints, and will impose immediate and appropriate corrective action as necessary. For a thorough description of JHACH's commitment to diversity and inclusion please visit: https://www.hopkinsallchildrens.org/About-Us/Diversity-and-Inclusion

Relevant employment policies for review also include the following, which can be found on HPO on Connect: HR941: Substance Use Policy HR927: Corrective Action Policy HR913: Performance Management HR915: Reasonable Accommodations for Individuals with Disability HR918: Social Media HR923 Equal Employment Opportunity Policy and Harassment and Complaint Procedures

CULTURE STATEMENT

Our Past and Future

Founded in 1926 by compassionate community volunteers helping children in need, over time JHACH has evolved into an essential statewide provider and referral center committed to advancing child health through treatment, education, advocacy and research. Our latest

transformation to become a national academic institution reflects our ongoing dedication to being top leaders in pediatric health. In so doing, we value and embrace change in health care to deliver the most advanced care, while never losing sight of our goals to foster inspiration and hope among children and families. We drive change by seeking opportunities for improvement, identifying new needs and exploring new solutions.

Our Commitment to Excellence & Respect

Quality and safety are our highest priorities—our patients deserve no less. We demonstrate excellent service to patients, families and to each other. A long tradition of putting patients first, respecting each other and striving to improve further is inherent to JHACH.

We approach our work with a positive attitude and professional manner. Taking responsibility to get the job done and holding ourselves—and each other—accountable is a vital part of "who we are." We respond promptly to situations with honesty and integrity. We not only follow best practices and standards of care, we redefine them by looking for ways to increase efficiency and innovation while always keeping patient safety first.

Our work is too important to be slowed down by gossip, negativity, bullying or avoiding responsibility. These types of behaviors have no place in our organization. We respect and celebrate different perspectives, lifestyles, cultures, ethnicities and religions of our colleagues, patients and families. We treat others as we hope to be treated ourselves.

We are here to touch lives, save lives and create healthy futures. Whether we deliver frontline clinical care or maintain behind-the scenes operations, we each play an important role in children's health. When we have questions, we inquire and seek clarity. We admire our colleagues who face challenges with confidence, and learn positive lessons from setbacks. We strive to be the best.

Our Drive to Collaborate

Collaboration and teamwork are critical to our success. We, the Johns Hopkins All Children's family, work together to support our organization's strategic direction, to solve problems, to accomplish tasks and to sustain ourselves financially. We consider patients and families valued partners in the diagnosis, treatment and care of ill children, the creation of new knowledge, and training of future leaders in health care.

Partnering with community leaders, academic institutions and other health care providers shapes our identity and creates channels for growth. We have a duty to engage with our communities to help ensure local, regional, national and global access to our quality care and to create healthier and safer neighborhoods for children and their families.

CORE VALUES

The Psychology and Neuropsychology department operates under, and is dedicated to, the core values embraced by JHACH. These core values include:

- Excellence and Discovery
- Leadership and Integrity
- Diversity and Inclusion
- Respect and Collegiality

TRAINING PROGRAM ACCREDITATION STATUS

The internship program is a member of the Association of Psychology Postdoctoral and Internship Centers (APPIC-www.appic.org) and participates in the APPIC match process. The internship program is accredited by the American Psychological Association (APA-apa.org).

Questions related to the program's accreditation status should be directed to the Commission on Accreditation:

Office of Program Consultation and Accreditation American Psychological Association 750 1st Street, NE, Washington, DC 20002 Phone: (202) 336-5979/Email: apaaccred@apa.org

All other questions about the internship program may be directed to the Psychology Internship Director, Lauren Gardner PhD, ABPP at ach-psychologyintern@jhmi.edu or 727-767-7124.

TRAINING

Internship Training Committee

The internship training committee consists of all full-time psychology faculty that supervise interns. The internship training committee is committed to the training and preparation of psychologists who can function effectively in a clinical setting. The internship training program has been specifically developed by the training committee for students enrolled in doctoral-level psychology programs who have completed all requirements for their doctoral degree except for internship and dissertation. While the internship training committee is responsible for participating in the selection, training, and evaluation of doctoral interns; work groups or committees are established to address specific issues.

Staff bios of the JHACH psychology team may be found on JHACH's website: <u>https://www.hopkinsallchildrens.org/services/institute-brain-protection-sciences/programs-and-services/psychology/psychology-team</u>

Training Director

The Internship Director has the following responsibilities:

1. Suggest training policy for review by the staff at JHACH. The Internship Director, in consultation with the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology and Social Work, remains responsible for all final policy decisions.

- 2. Coordinates the overall training program of postdoctoral and doctoral level students in conjunction with the Director of Postdoctoral Fellowship Training.
- 3. Coordinates training activities (including didactic, cohort meetings, etc.) and evaluations.
- 4. Integrates input from training staff, interns/postdoc fellows, and other professionals to develop and modify the training program.
- 5. Reviews, revises, and implements training procedures.
- 6. Arranges all supervisory assignments and coordinates JHACH staff to provide training program activities.
- 7. Coordinates the evaluation and feedback process.
- 8. Coordinates intern application and selection process.
- 9. Maintains connections with appropriate faculty from the students' academic programs.
- 10. Serves as a liaison between trainees and staff, providing feedback, and processing grievances.
- 11. Creates a positive and supportive environment for trainees and training program staff.
- 12. Helps support the development of senior staff in their roles as clinical supervisors and contributors to the overall training program.

Training Philosophy

In keeping with a Scientist-Practitioner model of education, interns are viewed as scholars, active consumers of research, and progressively, highly trained professional practitioners who apply evidence-based knowledge and techniques in patient care. As such, interns are expected to gain competency in clinical assessment and intervention skills as well as in general research skills, and the ability to apply these skills to investigating problems of interest to pediatric psychologists. This emphasis on integrating research and clinical skills produces a scientist-practitioner who is able to incorporate these domains. It is the expectation that interns will become leaders and innovators in the field of pediatric psychology in clinical, research, and/or academic settings. Key training elements to achieve this aim include training with psychologists who integrate science and practice, and active learning from the presentation of didactic material that is informed by current research. Interns' participation in practical clinical training, and didactic/seminar experiences will facilitate effective integration of science and practice, with increasing autonomy as the intern progresses, as appropriate to the intern's developmental level.

AIMS, COMPETENCIES AND ELEMENTS OF THE TRAINING PROGRAM

Aim of the Program

The overall aim of the internship program is to prepare interns for entry level practice in health service psychology. This aim is accomplished by providing training in generalist clinical skills in psychology, diversity, collaborative skills for operating within an interprofessional and interdisciplinary team, and overall professional development as a psychologist.

Competencies and Elements of the Program

The Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology at JHACH provides education and training designed to promote intern development in the nine profession-wide competencies according to APA'S required Profession Wide Competencies for internship programs as listed in the Standards of Accreditation for Health Service Psychology. These competencies and the according elements are summarized below. Specific, expected behavioral elements of each competency area, as well as the minimal level of achievement needed for successful completion of the program, are defined in our program's Psychology Trainee Competency Assessment Form (Appendix A).

1. Research:

Interns are expected to demonstrate knowledge, skills, and competence sufficient to produce new knowledge, to critically evaluate and use existing knowledge, and to disseminate research.

2. Ethical and Legal Standards:

Interns are expected to be knowledgeable of and act in accordance with the current version of the APA *Ethical Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct*; relevant laws, regulations, rules, and policies governing health service psychology at the organizational, local, state, regional, and federal levels; and relevant professional standards and guidelines. Further, interns are expected to recognize ethical dilemmas as they arise and engage in ethical decision making to resolve such concerns. Interns are expected to respond professionally in increasingly complex situations with a greater degree of independence over the course of the training year.

3. Individual and Cultural Diversity:

Interns are expected to demonstrate an understanding of how their own personal/cultural history, attitudes, and biases may affect how they understand and interact with people different from themselves; knowledge of current theoretical and empirical bases as it relates to addressing diversity in all professional activities; and the ability to integrate awareness and knowledge of individual and cultural differences into the conduct of professional roles. Interns are expected to respond professionally in increasingly complex situations with a greater degree of independence over the course of the training year.

4. Professional Values and Attitudes:

Interns are expected to behave in ways that reflect the values and attitudes of psychology (i.e., integrity, deportment, identity, accountability, lifelong learning, concern for the welfare of others); engage in self-reflection regarding one's personal and professional functioning and in activities to maintain and improve performance, actively seek and demonstrate openness and responsiveness to feedback, and to respond professionally in increasingly complex situations with a greater degree of independence over the course of the training year.

5. Communication and Interpersonal Skills:

Interns are expected to develop and maintain effective relationships with a wide range of individuals (e.g., colleagues, supervisors, supervisees, recipients of care); produce comprehensive oral, nonverbal, and written communications that are informative and well-integrated (including a grasp of professional language and concepts); and to demonstrate effective interpersonal skills including the ability to manage difficult communications well.

6. Assessment:

Interns are expected to demonstrate the ability to select and apply assessment methods that draw from the best available empirical literature, collect relevant data using multiple sources and methods appropriate to the goal of the assessment; interpret assessment results, following current research and professional standards, to inform case conceptualization, classification, and recommendations; and to communicate orally and in writing the findings and implications of assessment in an accurate and effective manner sensitive to a range of audiences.

7. Intervention:

Interns are expected to demonstrate the ability to implement evidence-based interventions at the individual, family, group, community, population, or systems level. Interns are expected to demonstrate the ability to establish and maintain effective relationships with recipients of psychological services; develop evidence-based intervention plans, implement interventions informed by research, assessment findings, patient diversity characteristics, and contextual variables; the ability to apply relevant research to clinical decision making; to modify and adapt evidence-based approaches as needed; and to evaluate intervention effectiveness.

8. Supervision:

Interns are expected to demonstrate their knowledge and skills related to mentoring and monitoring trainees and others in the development of competence and skills in professional practice.

9

9. Consultation and Interprofessional/Interdisciplinary Skills:

Interns are expected to demonstrate intentional collaboration with other individuals or groups to address a problem, seek or share knowledge, or promote effectiveness in professional activities.

Required Training/Experiential Activities for Elements

The Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology at JHACH is a full-time, 2000-hour program that is designed to be completed in 12 consecutive months of training. The training program strives to provide interns with the opportunity (in terms of setting, experience, and supervision) to begin assuming the professional role of a psychologist through a structured program of study. This entails the integration of interns' previous training with further development of the knowledge, skills, abilities and attitudes related to the professional practice of psychology.

At the beginning of the training year, interns are provided with structured orientation to acclimate them to the site and the staff, as well as intern expectations/policies. During this period, they meet with individual supervisors to identify specific core training needs, such as core readings on neuropsychological assessment and clinical practice in psychology. Interns also begin to receive training on legal and ethical professional practice. The interns work with their individual supervisors, who monitor the developmental level of the intern. After the initial orientation period, interns initially shadow individual supervisors during patient contact, adding patient responsibilities as they and their supervisors agree is appropriate.

Over the course of the training year, interns continue to gain autonomy and independence while maintaining close supervision on clinical tasks in the context of intern-specific needs and program-specific expectations. On a weekly basis, each intern will receive at least 2 hours of individual supervision with a doctoral level psychologist, as well as at least 2 hours of additional supervision.

In addition, interns are expected to prepare several professional presentations over the course of the internship year. Interns initially attend presentations given by faculty, either through the departmental didactic series or through other means such as Grand Rounds. Interns develop presentations under the supervision of faculty members over the course of the year. Each intern presents on a topic of their choice at the departmental didactics in the spring. Interns are encouraged to engage in research with training faculty, and present on research at a professional meeting once their dissertation is completed.

Each intern will obtain significant experience, spending approximately 24 hours weekly providing clinical services for children and adolescents with a wide variety of medical conditions.

Training Tracks

The JHACH psychology internship offers three separate tracks which include: Neuropsychology, Autism Spectrum Disorder/Neurodevelopmental Disabilities, and Pediatric Psychology. Descriptions for the major and minor rotations for each training track are provided below. Interns across all three tracks will participate in Psychology Didactics weekly, as well as track-specific didactics. Psychology and track-specific didactic topics are selected to be appropriate for interns and cover issues with regard to assessment, treatment, ethics, professionalism, and diversity, equality, and inclusion issues.

Interns may also choose to select from additional training experiences, which include Grand Rounds, research, and a variety of medical specialty teams within the hospital depending on interest and the feasibility of scheduling.

Clinical Training Activities

Training tracks available for the 2023-2024 internship training year:

- Neuropsychology Track
- Autism Spectrum Disorders/Neurodevelopmental Disabilities Track
- Pediatric Psychology Track

Neuropsychology Internship Track

The Neuropsychology Track aims to prepare interns for postdoctoral specialization in pediatric neuropsychology. Training conforms to Houston Conference Guidelines. Interns gain competency in completing neuropsychological evaluations for children, adolescents, and young adults.

Interns who match to the Neuropsychology Track complete three major rotations over the course of the training year, with each major rotation lasting 4 months in duration. The major rotations offerings include specialty areas of mTBI, oncology, epilepsy/epilepsy surgery, and neurodevelopment. Interns also complete one outpatient clinical evaluation per week for general medical referrals including hematology/stroke, cardiac/congenital heart disease, genetic disorders, and other acquired illness such as encephalitis. There are opportunities to participate in multidisciplinary team meetings, coordinate care with medical providers and provide follow-up and education to school systems and educators. Neuropsychology interns also complete yearlong minor rotations focused on initial diagnostic assessment, triaging services, inpatient neuropsychology consultation, and intervention (see full description of each below).

Interns progress from initially shadowing the supervising neuropsychologist to increasing levels of independence in interviewing, test selection, administration of assessment measures, scoring and providing feedback to families and the medical team. Over the course of the year, interns continue to gain independence while maintaining close supervision on tasks including chart review, conducting clinical interviews, test administration, interpretation of neuropsychological evaluation results, as well as oral and written report of findings. Based on intern training and background, opportunities may be available to participate in ongoing research within the Neuropsychology Clinic in collaboration with other departments throughout JHACH.

Major Rotations (4-months)

Interns complete three major neuropsychology rotations during their training year. The intern spends four months obtaining in-depth experience in three of the specialty areas described below.

mTBI

Primary Supervisor: Danielle Ransom, Psy.D., ABPP-CN

Training/Experiential Activities: The mTBI specialty rotation involves inpatient consultation as well as outpatient evaluation and follow-up of patients with acute and remote acquired brain injury such as concussion, accidental trauma, and nonaccidental trauma. The rotation focuses on review of referral information and medical record, clinical interviewing, and neuropsychological evaluations (standard and/or abbreviated) to address concerns related to acquired injury and provide appropriate recommendations (e.g., return to school and/or play).

Epilepsy/Epilepsy Surgery

Primary Supervisor: Kyle Srnka, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: This specialty rotation involves inpatient consultation/evaluation within an epilepsy presurgical context, outpatient postsurgical evaluation and follow-up, as well as evaluation of general seizure/epilepsy referral questions. The rotation focuses on reviewing referral information/medical record, clinical interviewing, and comprehensive neuropsychological evaluation for children, adolescents, and young adults. Interns gain competency in using data from neuropsychological evaluations to inform localization, lateralization and surgical considerations. Rotation experience also includes participation in multidisciplinary epilepsy team meetings where patient surgical candidacy is reviewed and presented to the team.

Oncology

Primary Supervisors: Colleen Hess, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: This specialty rotation involves inpatient consultation/evaluation within a neuro-oncology context as well as outpatient brain tumor evaluation and follow-up. The rotation also involves outpatient evaluation and follow-up for patients treated through the oncology late effects clinic. The rotation focuses on reviewing referral information/medical record, clinical interviewing, and comprehensive neuropsychological evaluation for children, adolescents, and young adults. Interns gain competency in using data from neuropsychological evaluations to inform surgical considerations as well as educational and treatment planning. Rotation experience also includes participation in multidisciplinary oncology team meetings.

Neurodevelopment

Primary Supervisor: Sakina Butt, Psy.D., ABPP-CN

Training/Experiential Activities: The neurodevelopment specialty rotation involves evaluation and follow-up of children at the younger age of the spectrum (ages 1-5 years) with complex congenital and/or neonatal histories including prematurity, neonatal abstinence syndrome, congenital heart disease and congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Through this rotation, interns gain competency in completing evaluations and determining risk for developmental challenges across areas including cognition, language, motor, social-emotional, behavioral, and adaptive development. The rotation focuses on review of referral information and medical record, clinical interviewing, and evaluations to address concerns related to development for early identification and intervention. Interns also gain

experience collaborating with multidisciplinary teams (neonatology, general pediatrics, audiology, speech/language therapy, occupational therapy, and physical therapy).

Minor Rotations (Full Year)

Psychology Intake Clinic

Primary Supervisor: Jennifer Katzenstein, Ph.D., ABPP-CN

Training/Experiential Activities: The Psychology Intake Clinic training experience focuses on initial evaluation of patients to assist with diagnostic clarification, treatment planning, and triaging to the appropriate Center for Behavioral Health service or community referral, as needed. This rotation may also include psychoeducational evaluations. Interns progress from initially shadowing the supervising psychologist to increasing levels of independence in interviewing and child mental status. Over the course of training, interns will continue to gain independence while maintaining close supervision on tasks including conducting diagnostic interviews, selecting appropriate assessment measures, completion of child mental status examinations, as well as oral and written report of differential diagnosis and treatment plan.

Outpatient Therapy Clinic

Primary Supervisor: Alyssa Fritz, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: The Outpatient Therapy Clinic rotation focuses on providing evidence-based interventions appropriate for young children presenting with significant behavioral and social difficulties. Interns will conduct therapy and receive live supervision in Brief Behavior Intervention (BBI), an evidence-based parent management intervention for preschoolers aged 2-7-years-old.

mTBI Rotation – 4 months				
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
mTBI Inpatient Consultation w/ Dr.	Inpatient Neuropsychology	Outpatient Therapy w/Dr. Fritz	General Neuropsych	Neuropsych Rounds
Ransom	Consults/Supervision/C oncussion Therapy Cases		Assessment Case w/ Dr. Katzenstein or	Neuropsych Seminar
			another	10:00-11:00 Psychology Didactic
	Intake Clinic w/Dr. Katzenstein	Supervision		Writing/ Administrative Time

<u>Neuropsychology Track Sample Schedule by Rotation</u>

Oncology – 4 months				
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
CanSurvive Clinic (twice monthly) & Outpatient Late	Inpatient Neuropsychology Consults/Supervision	Outpatient Therapy w/Dr. Fritz	General Neuropsych Assessment Case	Neuropsych Rounds
Effects Evaluations w/ Dr. Hess				Neuropsych Seminar
				10:00-11:00 Psychology Didactic
	Intake Clinic w/Dr. Katzenstein	Supervision		Writing/ Administrative Time

Epilepsy / Epilepsy Surgery – 4 months					
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	
Epilepsy / Presurgical Evaluations w/ Dr.	Inpatient Neuropsychology	Outpatient Therapy w/Dr. Fritz	General Neuropsych	Neuropsych Rounds	
Srnka	Consults/Supervision		Assessment Case w/ Dr. Srnka	Neuropsych Seminar	
				10:00-11:00 Psychology Didactic	
	Intake Clinic w/Dr. Katzenstein	Epilepsy Presurgical Evaluations w/ Dr. Katzenstein		Writing/ Administrative Time	

Autism Spectrum Disorder/Neurodevelopmental Disabilities Track

The Autism Spectrum Disorder/Neurodevelopmental Disabilities (ASD/NDD) Track trains interns to provide high-quality, family-centered care with a specialization in autism/neurodevelopmental disabilities. Interns who complete the ASD/NDD track are those seeking a career providing evidence-based assessment and intervention services for children and adolescents with ASD/NDD.

The ASD/NDD Track includes yearlong training experiences in interdisciplinary assessment for young children, diagnostic intake clinic, and outpatient therapy. In addition, this track is divided into three 4-month minor rotations. The minor-rotations offerings include parent training for behavior management, gender affirming care, consultation-liaison services, and psychological assessment. The ASD/NDD intern participates in an integrated care clinic providing assessment and solution-focused therapy services. Based on intern training and background, opportunities may be available for participation in ongoing research within the Autism Program.

Interns progress from initially shadowing the supervising psychologist to increasing levels of independence in test selection, administration, and scoring. Over the course of the rotation, interns continue to gain independence while maintaining close supervision on tasks including reviewing referral/intake documents, conducting diagnostic interviews, test administration, interpretation of evaluation results, as well as oral and written report of findings.

Major Rotations (Full Year)

Autism Program Interdisciplinary Clinics

Primary Supervisors: Lauren Gardner, Ph.D., ABPP & Callie Gilchrest, PhD **Training/Experiential Activities:** The intern participates in interdisciplinary evaluations for children aged 4 years, 11 months and younger through the Autism Program. These evaluations include Psychology, Speech/Language Pathology and Developmental Medicine. Interns gain competency in completing diagnostic evaluations as a member of an interdisciplinary team by conducting evidence-based assessments of cognition, language, social-emotional, behavioral, and adaptive development. The rotation focuses on review of referral information and medical record, clinical interviewing, and comprehensive diagnostic evaluations with same-day feedback for caregivers.

Integrated Care Clinic

Primary Supervisor: Callie Gilchrest, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: The Integrated Care Clinic is located within the Primary Care/Child and Adolescent Medicine Clinic at the JHACH Outpatient Care Center location. The intern learns to function as part of an interdisciplinary team and collaborate effectively with other professionals to benefit a patient's total wellness and increase their overall quality of care in the primary care setting. There is a strong focus on short term, solution-focused psychology interventions, as well as opportunities for longer term interventions. Interns also participate in screening and assessment of neurodevelopmental, behavioral, and mental health concerns within

the context of a pediatric primary care setting. Interns have opportunities to contribute to the training experiences of other disciplines through informal consultations and formal lectures. To prepare our interns to become leaders in integrated care settings, training experiences are provided in program development and evaluation.

Psychology Intake Clinic

Primary Supervisor: Aja Meyer, Ph.D., Lauren Gardner, Ph.D., ABPP, TBD Training/Experiential Activities: The Psychology Intake Clinic training experience focuses on initial evaluation of patients to assist with diagnostic clarification, treatment planning, and triaging to the appropriate Center for Behavioral Health service or community referral, as needed. Interns progress from initially shadowing the supervising psychologist to increasing levels of independence in interviewing and child mental status. Over the course of the rotation, interns continue to gain independence while maintaining close supervision on tasks including conducting diagnostic interviews, selecting appropriate assessment measures, completion of child mental status examinations, as well as oral and written report of differential diagnosis and treatment plan.

Child/Adolescent Therapy Clinic

Primary Supervisor: Aja Meyer, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: The Child/Adolescent Therapy Clinic focuses on providing evidence-based interventions for children and adolescents presenting with a wide variety of concerns including eating disorders, adjustment disorders, ADHD, depressive disorders and anxiety disorders. Through this rotation, interns gain competency as a generalist practitioner and be able to assess, diagnose, and treat a wide range of psychological problems among children and/or adolescents. Rotation experiences include conducting clinical interviews, individual therapy, consultation, and outreach as available. Interns are expected to carry an approximate caseload of 3-4 patients to be seen weekly in clinic.

Minor Rotations (4 months)

Consultation-Liaison Service

Primary Supervisor: Marissa Feldman, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: Interns receive breadth of experience working with a variety of medical diagnoses on the consultation and liaison service. Patients seen range in age from newborns to 8 the mid-twenties and are located in the PICU, CVICU, 7N (Neurology/Surgery), 8N, and 8S (General Pediatrics). Referrals come from physicians, nurse practitioners or other hospital care providers and cover a wide range of psychological and medical conditions. Close communication and collaboration with the medical team and supportive services (e.g., Child Life, Social Work, and Rehabilitation Services) is imperative, and the intern has the opportunity to participate in medical and discharge rounds to facilitate family-centered care. The intern learns to conduct brief evaluations, formulate clinical impressions and recommendations, and communicate findings effectively to families and medical providers. Interns also participate in care conference meetings and have the opportunity provide formal (or informal) teaching on the biopsychosocial model and psychosocial concomitants through collaborative learning experiences with our medical colleagues.

Psychology Evaluation

Primary Supervisor: Callie Gilchrest, Ph.D. and/or Jason Hangauer, Ph.D. **Training/Experiential Activities:** Interns complete comprehensive psychological evaluations for patients with neurodevelopmental disorders ranging from early childhood through adolescence. The Psychology Evaluation training experience focuses on comprehensive diagnostic evaluations assessing for a wide range of neurodevelopmental as well as co-occurring behavioral and emotional disorders using validated assessment measures. Over the course of the rotation, interns gain increasing independence completing all necessary steps of a comprehensive psychological evaluation including diagnostic interview, selection of assessment measures, administering and scoring, completing child/adolescent individual interview, mental status examination, and conducting a feedback session with customized recommendations for the child/adolescent based on assessment findings and individual areas of need. Interns gain experience in the preparation of written reports conceptualizing the overall assessment process and findings with individualized treatment recommendations.

Helping Our Toddlers, Developing Our Children's Skills (HOTDOCS©) Primary Supervisor: Jason Hangauer, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: Interns co-facilitate a group-based behavioral parent training program entitled Helping Our Toddlers, Developing our Children's Skills (HOTDOCS©). HOTDOCS is a 6-session behavioral parent training program designed to teach parents/caregivers evidence-based strategies for common early childhood behavioral and developmental problems in a supportive group-based format where participants are encouraged to share ideas, process successes, and support one another. Participants also learn to identify the function of a child's behavior and then implement preventions or teach new skills to decrease disruptive behaviors across home, school, and community settings. There may also be an opportunity for interns to provide individualized caregiver coaching for caregivers of children with autism spectrum disorder in order to facilitate language and functional play acquisition. Trainees who complete this rotation may also be eligible for certification as a HOTDOCS trainer.

LGBTQIA+ Rotation

Primary Supervisor: Callie King, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: This rotation focuses on providing training in evaluation and intervention of individuals who identify as LGBTQIA+. Interns will gain specific training in conducting diagnostic interviews to assess gender history and gender dysphoria. Additionally, interns gain specific training in case conceptualization within a gender minority stress framework and how to adapt evidence-based interventions with an outpatient caseload with LGBTQIA+ youth. Interns may have opportunities to shadow and participate in multidisciplinary gender clinic, as well as to co-lead groups.

HOTDOCS Minor – 4 months				
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
1 st week of month DIs 9, 11, and 1pm w/Dr. Gardner 2-4 th weeks of month 9:00am - 2:00pm MD eval w/Dr. Gardner	HOT DOCS/DOCS w/Dr. Hangauer	Integrated Care Clinic 8:00- 12:00pm w/Dr. Gilchrest	9:00 SLC w/Dr. Gilchrest	9:00-10:00 Autism/NDD didactic 10:00-11:00 Psychology Didactic
2:00-5:00pm report writing		Intake Clinic 2:00- 5:00pm w/Dr. Meyer	Outpatient Therapy w/Dr. Meyer	1:00-2:00 sup w/Dr. Gardner 2:00-3:00 sup w/Dr. Gilchrest

Autism/NDD Track Sample Schedule by Rotation

LGBTQIA+ Minor – 4 months				
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
1 st week of month Dis 9, 11, and 1pm w/Dr. Gardner	LGBTQIA+ w/Dr. King	Integrated Care Clinic 8:00- 12:00pm w/Dr. Gilchrest	9:00 SLC w/Dr. Gilchrest	9:00-10:00 Autism/NDD didactic
2-4 th weeks of month 9:00am - 2:00pm MD eval w/Dr. Gardner				10:00-11:00 Psychology Didactic
2:00-5:00pm report writing		Intake Clinic 2:00- 5:00pm w/Dr. Meyer	Outpatient Therapy w/Dr. Meyer	1:00-2:00 sup w/Dr. Gardner 2:00-3:00 sup w/Dr. Gilchrest

Psychology Evaluation Minor – 4 months				
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
1 st week of month DIs 9, 11, and 1pm w/Dr. Gardner 2-4 th weeks of month 9:00am - 2:00pm MD eval w/Dr. Gardner	Psych evaluation w/Dr. Gilchrest	Integrated Care Clinic 8:00- 12:00pm w/Dr. Gilchrest	9:00 SLC w/Dr. Gilchrest	9:00-10:00 Autism/NDD didactic 10:00-11:00 Psychology Didactic
2:00-5:00pm report writing		Intake Clinic 2:00- 5:00pm w/Dr. Meyer	Outpatient Therapy w/Dr. Meyer	1:00-2:00 sup w/Dr. Gardner 2:00-3:00 sup w/Dr. Gilchrest

Pediatric Psychology Internship Track

The pediatric psychology track provides interns the opportunity to gain competencies working with patients with diverse medical conditions, as well as more in-depth training with specific illness populations to help facilitate specialization. The training year is comprised of several core clinical activities/learning experiences that are year-long; including participation on the consultation-liaison service (major rotation) and engagement in Psychology Intake Clinic and Pediatric Psychology Outpatient Therapy. Additionally, interns identify three minor rotations (spanning 4 months each) for specialized training within several multidisciplinary medical clinics. Finally, the training year is rounded out by monthly opportunities for psychological and/or neuropsychological assessment. These core training opportunities help interns solidify skills in evidence-based practice addressing the psychological aspects of illness, while also gaining crucial experience with interdisciplinary collaboration and coordination for enhanced patient- and family-centered care.

Supervision follows a developmental model whereby interns will progress from shadowing the attending psychologist to increasing levels of independence in review of the electronic medical record, communication with primary and supporting services, direct clinical interview, delivery of feedback and recommendations, and identification and implementation of evidence-based intervention over the course of the rotation. Research and program development opportunities are available within each area for the prepared intern.

<u>Major Rotation (12 months)</u> Consultation-Liaison Service

Primary Supervisor: Marissa Feldman, Ph.D., ABPP

Training/Experiential Activities: Interns with receive breadth of experience working with a variety of medical diagnoses from the year-long rotation on the consultation and liaison service. Patients seen range in age from newborns to the mid-twenties and are located in the Intensive Care Units (PICU, CVICU), 7N (Neurology/Surgery), 8N, and 8S (General Pediatrics). Referrals come from physicians, nurse practitioners or other hospital care providers and cover a wide range of psychological and medical conditions. Close communication and collaboration with the medical team and supportive services (e.g., Child Life, Social Work, and Rehabilitation Services) is imperative, and the intern will have the opportunity to participate in medical and discharge rounds to facilitate family-centered care. The intern will learn to conduct brief evaluations, formulate clinical impressions and recommendations, and communicate findings effectively to families and medical providers. Ongoing evidence-based intervention may be indicated, with the frequency of services determined by clinical need. Interns will also participate in care conference meetings and have the opportunity provide formal (or informal) teaching on the biopsychosocial model and psychosocial concomitants through collaborative learning experiences with our medical colleagues. Based on intern training and background, opportunities may be available for participation in ongoing research projects and program development. Interns dedicate three half-days per week to the major rotation.

Psychology Intake Clinic

Primary Supervisor: Alyssa Fritz, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: The Psychology Intake Clinic is a year-long training experience that focuses on initial evaluation of patients to assist with diagnostic clarification, treatment planning, and triaging to the appropriate Center for Behavioral Health service or community referral, as needed. Interns progress from initially shadowing the supervising psychologist to increasing levels of independence in interviewing and child mental status. Over the course of the rotation, interns will continue to gain independence while maintaining close supervision on tasks including conducting diagnostic interviews, selecting appropriate assessment measures, completion of child mental status examinations, as well as oral and written report of differential diagnosis and treatment plan. This clinical experience is currently designed to fulfil one half-day of the intern's time in an effort to protect time for writing up the diagnostic assessment report.

Pediatric Psychology Outpatient Clinic

Primary Supervisor: Sarah Sobalvarro, Ph.D., ABPP/Marissa Feldman, PhD, ABPP Training/Experiential Activities: The Pediatric Psychology Outpatient Clinic focuses on providing evidence-based assessment and interventions for children and adolescents experiencing psychological, social, and/or family functioning problems as they relate to a child's medical illness (e.g., cancer/blood disorders, diabetes, obesity, GI disorders, seizure disorders, cranio-facial conditions, transplant). The intern will be expected to carry an approximate caseload of 3-4 pediatric psychology patients to be seen in the psychology clinic. Referral reasons for outpatient therapy include adjustment/coping with illness, pain, anxiety related to illness/medical procedures, treatment adherence, somatic complaints, or family functioning in the context of medical illness/trauma. Interns will see cases with a range of diagnoses and presenting concerns, and work with two supervisors to achieve breadth, and specialization, of experience working with pediatric chronic illness.

Psychology Evaluations

Interns will complete approximately 10 neuropsychology or psychology evaluations during the course of the training year. The opportunity for both inpatient brief neuropsychological evaluations, as well as outpatient general psychological assessment exists.

Minor Rotations (4 months)

Each intern will be able to select three minor rotations for their training year. The intern will spend four months obtaining in-depth experience in three of the specialty areas below. Interns will dedicate two half-days (or 1 day) a week to their minor rotation. Supervision for these minor rotations follows a developmental model whereby interns will progress from shadowing the attending psychologist to increasing levels of independence in direct service delivery and interprofessional/interdisciplinary communication/collaboration over the course of the rotations.

Pain Rotation

Primary Supervisor: Will Frye, Ph.D., ABPP

Training/Experiential Activities: Interns in the pain rotation have the opportunity to work with patients presenting with a variety of chronic pain conditions including amplified musculoskeletal pain, chronic daily headaches, juvenile idiopathic arthritis, disorders of the

brain-gut interaction, and complex regional pain syndrome. Patients with chronic pain seen by an intern during clinic or consultation/liaison services may be followed by the intern for outpatient therapy services, using an evidence-based approach. Interns will be able to conduct diagnostic assessments of youth with chronic pain within outpatient psychology or multidisciplinary pain clinics. Interns may also choose the option of becoming involved in our inpatient rehabilitation program for Complex Regional Pain syndrome or outpatient pain programming. Interns rotating with pain will receive training in biofeedback with multiple biofeedback systems.

Hematology/Oncology/Bone Marrow Transplant Rotation

Primary Supervisor: Melissa Faith, Ph.D., ABPP

Training/Experiential Activities: The hematology/oncology/bone marrow transplant ("hem/onc/BMT") rotation offers a unique experience of multidisciplinary clinics as well as the potential for evidence-based outpatient therapy and inpatient consultation/liaison shadowing. Multidisciplinary clinics in which the intern may participate include long-term cancer survivorship clinic, sickle cell disease clinic, hemophilia clinic, brain tumor clinic, or other specialty hematology/oncology clinics as available. During multidisciplinary clinics, if time permits between patients, interns will be encouraged to accompany the attending psychologist or a postdoctoral fellow for hem/onc/BMT inpatient consultation/liaison work. Inpatient work in hem/onc/BMT can include meeting with patients, medical team members, and psychosocial team members for routine consultation requests (e.g., for new oncology diagnoses) or can reflect consultations to address acute concerns. Interns on this rotation will be expected to attend Hem/Onc/BMT Family Support Team rounds once per month, as the intern's schedule allows, with the option of six multidisciplinary oncology board meetings (e.g., Brain Tumor Board).

Diabetes Rotation

Primary Supervisor: Marissa Feldman, Ph.D., ABPP

Training/Experiential Activities: Interns electing to complete a diabetes rotation have the opportunity to be integrated into a multidisciplinary team consisting of physicians, nurses, diabetes educators, dietitians and social workers who work closely with patients and families to provide state of the art care. The intern participates in routine psychosocial screening and provide brief evidence-based behavioral interventions targeting diabetes-related management issues (including concerns for adherence and coping). The intern follows some patients for outpatient psychotherapy, when appropriate. Additionally, interns on this rotation follow-up with patients seen on C/L for new onset diabetes during the first post discharge clinic visit. This provides the unique opportunity to assess adaptation to newly diagnosed diabetes following return home and engage in collaborative problem-solving with patients and families to promote positive coping and adherence behaviors. Rotation offering is dependent on appropriate staffing of this multidisciplinary clinic.

Eating Disorders Rotation

Primary Supervisor: Sarah Sobalvarro, Ph.D., ABPP

Training/Experiential Activities: The Eating Disorder rotation focuses on providing evidencebased interventions for children and adolescents with eating disorders (e.g., anorexia nervosa, atypical anorexia nervosa, bulimia nervosa, avoidant/restrictive food intake disorder, binge eating disorder). Our multidisciplinary eating disorder team includes a physician, dietitian, social worker, and psychologist. Interns will have an opportunity to provide assessment and brief interventions within the multidisciplinary clinic). Family Based Treatment (FBT) and Radically Open Dialectical Behavior Therapy (RO DBT), a treatment targeting maladaptive overcontrol, will be the primary evidence-based interventions used during this rotation. The rotation may include outpatient therapy focused on using evidence-based interventions to treat patients with eating disorders. Interns will have significant opportunity to learn individual and group skills related to RO DBT and FBT.

LGBTQIA+ Rotation

Primary Supervisor: Callie King, Ph.D.

Training/Experiential Activities: This rotation focuses on providing training in evaluation and intervention of individuals who identify as LGBTQIA+. Interns will gain specific training in conducting diagnostic interviews to assess gender history and gender dysphoria. Additionally, interns gain specific training in case conceptualization within a gender minority stress framework and how to adapt evidence-based interventions with an outpatient caseload with LGBTQIA+ youth. Interns may have opportunities to shadow and participate in multidisciplinary gender clinic, as well as to co-lead groups.

Pain Rotation – 4 months				
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
Intake Clinic 8:00-	Case Review/Report	Pain Rotation minor	Pain Rotation minor	
11:00am w/Dr. Fritz	Writing and Follow-	w/Dr. Frye	w/Frye	9:00-10:00 Peds
	Up			Psych Table Rounds
				10:00-11:00 Psych
				Didactics
Major Rotation C/L	1:00-2:00pm	Major Rotation C/L	1:00-2:00pm	Major Rotation C/L
w/Dr. Feldman	supervision	w/Dr. Feldman	supervision	w/ Dr. Feldman
	Outpatient therapy		Outpatient therapy	
	(2-3 cases) w/Dr.		(2-3 cases) w/Dr.	
	Sobalvarro		Sobalvarro	

Pediatric Psychology Track Sample Schedule by Rotation

Hem/Onc Rotation – 4 months				
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
Intake Clinic 8:00-	Major Rotation C/L	Hem/Onc Rotation	Case Review/Report	
11:00am w/Dr. Fritz	w/Dr. Feldman	w/Dr. Faith	Writing and Follow-	9:00-10:00 Peds
			Up	Psych Table Rounds
				10:00-11:00 Psych
				Didactics
Hem/Onc Rotation	1:00-2:00pm	Major Rotation C/L	1:00-2:00pm	Major Rotation C/L
w/Dr. Faith	supervision	w/Dr. Feldman	supervision	w/ Dr. Feldman
	Outpatient therapy		Outpatient therapy	
	(2-3 cases) w/Dr.		(2-3 cases) w/Dr.	
	Sobalvarro		Sobalvarro	

Diabetes Rotation – 4 months				
Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday
Intake Clinic 8:00-	Diabetes Rotation	Diabetes Rotation	Case Review/Report	
11:00am w/Dr. Fritz	minor w/Dr.	minor w/Dr.	Writing and Follow-	9:00-10:00 Peds
	Feldman	Feldman	Up	Psych Table Rounds
				10:00-11:00 Psych
				Didactics
Major Rotation C/L	1:00-2:00pm	Major Rotation C/L	1:00-2:00pm	Major Rotation C/L
w/Dr. Feldman	supervision	w/Dr. Feldman	supervision	w/ Dr. Feldman
	Outpatient therapy		Outpatient therapy	
	(2-3 cases) w/Dr.		(2-3 cases)w/Dr.	
	Sobalvarro		Sobalvarro	

Psychology/neuropsychology evaluations will be scheduled for over the course of the training year on 10 Mondays

TRAINING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Program Responsibilities

In accordance with the learning elements described above, the training program assumes a number of general responsibilities as described below:

- Interns will be closely supervised. The training program will provide a minimum of four hours of supervision weekly, at least two of which will be individual and provided by a licensed psychologist on staff at JHACH.
- The training program will provide 2,000 clinical hours over the course of the full-time, 12-month training year.
- The training program will provide interns with information regarding relevant professional standards and guidelines, as well as offer appropriate forums to discuss the implementation of such standards.
- The training program will provide interns with information regarding relevant legal regulations that govern the practice of psychology, as well as offer appropriate forums to discuss the implementation of such regulations.
- The training program faculty will provide informal verbal feedback to interns in an ongoing fashion (formative feedback).
- The training program faculty will provide written evaluations of interns' progress during the training year at 3, 6, 9 and 11-12 months. Feedback from the assessments will facilitate trainee change and growth as professionals by acknowledging strengths and identifying any performance or conduct areas that need improvement.
- In accepting the above responsibilities, the training program will provide appropriate mechanisms by which behavior that negatively affects professional functioning is brought to the attention of interns. The training program also will maintain procedures, including grievance and due process guidelines, to address and remediate perceived problems as they relate to professional standards, professional competency and/or professional functioning. At the beginning of the training year, all trainees receive the Due Process in Action: The Identification and Management of Trainee Problems/Grievances included in Appendix B of this handbook, which describe the process that will be followed in the event of a grievance. These procedures work in parallel with HR policy (JHM-HR-0927).

Rights of Interns

The Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology at JHACH acknowledges and ensures the following rights of all trainees:

- The right to be trained by licensed professionals who behave in accordance with the ethical guidelines of the American Psychological Association.
- The right to be treated with professional respect that recognizes the training and experience interns bring.
- The right to ongoing evaluation that is specific, respectful, and pertinent.
- The right to engage in an ongoing evaluation of the training program experience.
- The right to initiate an informal resolution of problems that might arise in the training experience through discussion, or written communication, to the faculty member concerned and/or the Psychology Internship Director.

• The right to due process and appeal.

As part of the formal written evaluation, the supervisor completes the internship program's competency evaluation, rating the intern on core clinical and professional skills, including ethical standards and legal professional guidelines, technical skills and competence, utilization of and approach to supervision, approach to professional growth, ability to function independently, and understanding of time management issues. The intern receives the completed evaluations, reviewing and discussing them with the supervisor and with the Psychology Internship Director. Any rating below the expected minimum is reviewed by the internship training committee. In the event that an intern is not meeting the expectations of the program, the internship training committee will develop a remediation plan/Performance Improvement Plan and the Psychology Internship Director will contact the Director of Clinical Training at the intern's university, as well as JHACH Human Resources department. At mid-year, the Psychology Internship Director summarizes the intern's progress for the Training Committee, to ensure that the intern is meeting the program's competency criteria. The Psychology Internship Director also completes a final evaluation letter at the end of the internship year. Copies of both the mid-year and final evaluations are provided to the Director of Clinical Training at the intern's university. At each formal written evaluative feedback session during the training year, the interns will have the opportunity to provide their supervisors and the Psychology Internship Director formal written feedback on the training program and supervision.

Once exiting the program, intern graduates will be contacted at six months, 18 months, and an ongoing annual basis following the internship in order to provide feedback on the effectiveness of the training program and updates on professional practice. The Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology will be revised based on the intern's response regarding his/her preparation for the practice of psychology.

Intern Responsibilities

- The responsibility to read, understand and clarify, if necessary, the statement of rights and responsibilities. It is assumed that these responsibilities will be exercised and their implementation is viewed as a function of competence.
- The responsibility to maintain behavior within the scope of the APA ethical guidelines. These principles are set forth in the APA pamphlet entitled, "Ethical Principals of Psychologists and Code of Conduct."
- The responsibility to follow the policies and procedures of the internship program as well as the policies and procedures of JHACH.
- The responsibility to be open to professionally appropriate feedback from supervisors, professional staff, and agency personnel.
- The responsibility to behave in a manner that promotes professional interactions.
- The responsibility to give constructive feedback that evaluates the training experience or other experiences at JHACH.
- The responsibility to meet training expectations by developing competency in all areas delineated in the internship plan.

Accessibility of Staff to Interns

It is important for staff to facilitate ongoing communication with interns regarding their training experience. As an aid to learning, the program faculty encourages interns to discuss their training experiences; faculty encourages discussion of issues with mentors, supervisors, and/or the Psychology Internship Director. Trainees can also utilize their performance evaluations as a time to discuss concerns, problems or needs with their supervisors. At each performance evaluation, the intern will provide verbal and written feedback about their training experiences to their supervisors and the Psychology Internship Director.

Intern Supervision

The licensed doctoral-level psychologists who comprise the training committee for the Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology at JHACH provide each intern with direct supervision for all patient care activities. At a minimum, interns will be provided with four hours of weekly supervision, two hours of which will be individual supervision. The level of supervision and responsibility will vary based on the level of training and the individual's ability and experience. Each trainee will know and understand that there is a supervising faculty member who is available and responsible for patient care activities. If an intern is unclear of which faculty is assigned to supervise their patient care activities, it is expected that interns will seek clarification immediately. If supervision is not provided or a trainee is concerned about supervision, they should immediately report this to the Psychology Internship Director, or should the concern be with the Psychology Internship Director, immediately report this to the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work, Jennifer Katzenstein, PhD, ABPP-CN.

Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital policy mandates that faculty are clinically responsible for patient care and patient contact. Interns will look to the named faculty as the person responsible for the care provided and the supervision related to this patient. All patients will be notified by faculty that the intern is practicing under the license and direct supervision of the licensed doctoral-level psychologist. If an instance occurs when there is no responsible faculty, the trainee is instructed to notify the Psychology Training Director immediately. With the exception of an emergency situation, policy states that interns without a teaching faculty of record on hand will never assume responsibility for direct patient care.

All training service lines include a designated faculty responsible for the education of the interns and supervision during that course of study. A trainee will never assume responsibility for patient service if the supervising faculty is away from the department or is not readily available to the trainee if needed. In the case that the supervising faculty is away from the department, the faculty will designate an alternative supervisor as appropriate, and the intern will be informed accordingly, most frequently in line with the psychology on-call schedule.

Questions or problems relating to supervision should be directed to the Psychology Internship Director, or in her absence, the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work. If none of the aforementioned faculty members are present, the trainee should contact the JHACH Medical Director of Pediatric Psychiatry Services, Mark Cavitt, MD. The JHACH Grievance Committee serves as the final step in the resolution process, should an earlier communication not resolve the supervision issue. This procedure is described in detail in Appendix B: Due Process in Action: The Identification and Management of Trainee Problems/Grievances.

Training Program Communication

The internship training committee meets on a monthly basis to discuss interns' current level of functioning and to evaluate progress toward training competencies. While interns receive ongoing verbal feedback from supervisors, formal written evaluative feedback is provided four times during the training year first at 3 months, and again at 6 months and 9 months. A final formal written evaluative feedback occurs at the 11-12-month time point. As part of the formal written evaluation the supervisor completes the internship program's competency evaluation, rating the intern on profession-wide competencies. The intern receives the completed evaluations, reviewing and discussing them with the supervisor and with the Psychology Internship Director. Any rating below the expected minimum is reviewed by the internship training committee. In the event that an intern is not meeting the expectations of the program, the internship training committee will develop a remediation plan/Performance Improvement Plan and the Psychology Internship Director will contact the Director of Clinical Training at the intern's university as well as JHACH Human Resources department. At mid-year, the Psychology Internship Director summarizes the intern's progress for the internship training committee, to ensure that the intern is meeting the program's competency criteria. The Psychology Internship Director also completes a final evaluation letter at the end of the internship year. Copies of both the mid-year and final evaluations are provided to the Director of Clinical Training at the intern's university.

Trainee Duty Hours

The Psychology Service will limit interns to forty (40) hours per week, averaged over a fourweek period. Monitoring of duty hours is required with frequency sufficient to ensure an appropriate balance between education and service.

EVALUATION, DUE PROCESS, & GREIVANCE PROCEDURES

Evaluation of intern performance occurs during the training year at 3 months, 6 months, 9 months and 11-12 months. The Minimum Level of Achievement is outlined to interns at the outset of training. If an intern's performance is judged unsatisfactory or requiring remedial work, a meeting will occur between the trainee and the Psychology Internship Director. From this meeting a formal program of study should occur that will remedy the problem. If there is no change in the intern's performance, this constitutes an academic problem, and the policy and procedure for academic due process is then instituted.

All completed intern evaluation forms are the property of the training program. Trainees can obtain copies of these evaluations by requesting them from the program office and/or making copies as they receive each evaluation. Trainees will not have the right to change or remove any evaluation from program files, but will have the right to add to the evaluation by providing other evaluations or information from those who observed

intern's performance. Only the program's Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work, in association with the Psychology Internship Director and JHACH Human Resource, can remove or correct an evaluation form at the trainee's request with cause.

Process of Intern Evaluation

At the time of orientation, interns will receive a list of the program's aims, training, competencies, and outcomes for the training year. They will also receive a copy of the rotation evaluation form. **The Minimum Level of Performance is reviewed with trainees at the time of orientation and is also outlined on the evaluation forms.** Competency goals for written evaluation are completed at 3, 6, 9 and 11-12 months. At 12 months, all competency areas will be rated at a level of competence rating of a 3 or higher. No competency areas will be rated as a 1 at any time during the internship year.

The evaluation form is completed by the rotation supervisor and then discussed with the trainee. The evaluation utilizes a 9-point scale to measure specific areas; it also provides space for the supervisor(s) to note trainee strengths, concerns, and recommendations for improvement in narrative form. Both the supervisor and intern review and sign the form. The trainee is also afforded the opportunity to make narrative comments on the evaluation. Faculty will share concerns, suggestions, or recommendations regarding training and progress. Each supervisor will then share and discuss information relevant to the training they provide to the intern, in addition to feedback from the Psychology Internship Director.

Insufficient Professional Competence and Inadequate Performance

Insufficient professional competence is defined as interference in professional functioning which is reflected in one or more of the following ways:

- An inability and/or unwillingness to acquire and integrate professional standards into one's repertoire of professional behavior;
- An inability to acquire professional skills in order to reach an acceptable level of competency; and/or
- An inability to control personal stress, strong emotional reactions, and/or psychological dysfunction which interferes with professional functioning.

It is a professional judgment when an intern's behavior becomes problematic rather than of concern. Interns may exhibit behaviors, attitudes or characteristics which, while of concern and requiring remediation, are not unexpected or excessive for professionals in training. Problematic behavior typically become identified when one or more of the following characteristics exist:

- 1. The intern does not acknowledge, understand, or address the problem when it is identified.
- 2. The problem is not merely a reflection of a skill deficit which can be rectified by academic, didactic training, or supervision.
- 3. The quality of services delivered by the trainee is sufficiently negatively affected.
- 4. The problem is not restricted to one area of professional functioning.
- 5. A disproportionate amount of attention by training personnel is required.
- 6. The trainee's behavior does not change as a function of feedback, remediation efforts, and/or time.
- 7. A trainee's behavior is not consistent with the JHACH Core Values.

Inadequate performance can be differentiated from insufficient professional competence in that it

merely reflects a skill deficit, while insufficient professional competence reflects behavior and/or attitudes that prevent an intern from reaching competent practice. Both are addressed by the remediation procedures which are provided in Appendix B: Due Process in Action: The Identification and Management of Trainee Problems/Grievances.

PROGRAM COMPLETION REQUIREMENTS

To successfully complete the Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology at JHACH, interns must meet all of the following requirements by the end of the training year:

- 1. Achieve stated minimal levels of achievement by the end of internship (see Appendix A).
- 2. Be in good standing free from active remediation/Performance Improvement plan. If an intern was placed on remediation during the course of the training year, the issue(s) learning to remediation must be successfully resolved for program completion.
- 3. Complete all outstanding tasks, assignments, and documentation including any related to clinical care provided as part of one's training.

Acknowledgement of Receipt and Agreement to Abide

By signing below, the trainee acknowledges receipt and agrees to abide by the policies and procedures within the:

Doctoral Internship in Professional Psychology

Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital Saint Petersburg, Florida

Training Handbook 2023-2024

Signature

Printed Name

Date

Witness

A copy of this page will be kept in the trainee's personnel file with the Psychology Internship Director.

Appendix A

Trainee Competency Evaluation Form

Trainee Competency Evaluation Form

Trainee Name:		Date of Evaluation: / /
Supervisor:		
Evaluation Period: 3 months 6 mont	ths 9 months	□ 12 months
Assessment Methods used (check all that apply) □ Direct Observation (In person or Live video) □ Review of Raw Test Data □ Feedback from other staff	 Case Presentation Review of Written Work 	 Review of Clinical Notes Discussion of Clinical Interaction
		trainee's training. Note that the form offers check-off boxes between r she has met most of the Level 2 and some but not all of the Level 3
It is expected that <i>interns</i> will progress from 2-3 over the	ne course of the trainee year and <u>fel</u>	<i>llows</i> will progress from 3-4 over the course of the training year.
1 = Performance at the <i>Entry Level for an Extern</i>		
1.5 = Performance at the <i>Mid-Year Level for and Exte</i>	ern	
2 = Performance at the <i>Entry Level for a doctoral Inte</i>	ern	
2.5 = Performance at the <i>Mid-Year Level for a doctor</i>	al Intern	
3 = Performance at the <i>Exit Level for a doctoral Inter</i>	n and Entry Level for Post-Doctord	al Fellow

- 3.5 = Performance at the *Mid-Year Level for a Post-Doctoral Fellow*
- 4 = Performance at the Exit Level for a Post-doctoral Fellow (1-year) and Entry Level for a 2nd Year Post-Doctoral Fellow
- 4.5 = Performance at the Mid-Year Level for a 2^{nd} Year Post-Doctoral Fellow
- **5** = Performance at the *Exit of a* 2^{nd} *Year Post-Doctoral Fellow*

Competency I: Research: Trainees need to demonstrate the substantially independent ability to critically evaluate and disseminate research or other scholarly activities (case conference, presentations, publications) at the local (including the host institution), regional, or national level.

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Demonstrates an understanding of the importance of scientific thinking	Displays beginning critical scientific thinking	Demonstrates independent critical thinking skills Examples:	Values and applies scientific methods to professional practice Examples:	Independently applies scientific methods to practice Examples:
 Examples: Discusses the need for evidence to support assertions Presents own work for the scrutiny of others 	 Examples: With supervisor, formulates appropriate questions regarding case conceptualization 	 Questions assumptions of knowledge Evaluates study methodology and scientific basis of findings Formulates appropriate questions regarding case conceptualization 	 Cites literature to support ideas in case conferences and supervision Generates hypotheses regarding own contribution to therapeutic process and outcome 	 Independently accesses and applies scientific knowledge and skills appropriately to the solution of problems
Comments:	CH			Not yet achieved Level 1
COMPETENCY: RESEAR ELEMENT: SCIENTIFIC	FOUNDATION			
COMPETENCY: RESEAR	FOUNDATION Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
COMPETENCY: RESEAR ELEMENT: SCIENTIFIC	FOUNDATION	Level 3 Demonstrates beginning level knowledge of core science (i.e., scientific bases of behavior)	Level 4 Demonstrates intermediate level knowledge of core science (i.e., scientific bases of behavior)	
COMPETENCY: RESEAR ELEMENT: SCIENTIFIC Level 1 Demonstrates basic understanding of	FOUNDATION Level 2 Demonstrates interest in the	Demonstrates beginning level knowledge of core science (i.e.,	Demonstrates intermediate level knowledge of core science (i.e.,	Level 5 Demonstrates advanced level knowledge of core science (i.e.,

COMPETENCY: RESEARCH ELEMENT: SCIENTIFIC FOUNDATION

practice in psychology (EBP) as defined by American Psychological Association (APA)competenciesinterventions in the context of case conceptualization and treatmentsupervisionto clinical work and applies knowledge to case treatment under supervision and	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Not yet achieved Level 1 COMPETENCY: RESEARCH ELEMENT: SCIENTIFIC APPROACH Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 Demonstrates understanding of iterature searches and systematic review nethodology Examples: Participates effectively in scientific endeavors when available Demonstrates development of skills and habits in seeking, applying, and evaluating theoretical and research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology under supervision. Independently generates research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology with minimal supervision. • Independently conducts a literature review examples: • Describes the basics of treatment of human subjects Participates in research and scholarly activity, which may include presentations at local, regional, or national conferences; participation research teams; submission of manuscripts for publication • Articulates basic components and aspects of grant applications • Examples: • • Engages in systematic efforts to increase the knowledge base of psychology through implementing and reviewing research • Estimates while carrying out research with • Estimates while carrying out research with	Demonstrates awareness of cientific foundation of professional psychology Examples: Completes assigned readings/supervision regarding development of evidence-based practice in psychology (EBP) as defined by American Psychological	 Understands the scientific foundation of professional practice Examples: Articulates the development of EBP as defined by APA Describes the scientific foundations of the competencies Cites scientific literature to support an argument when appropriate Evaluates scholarly literature 	 Demonstrates knowledge, understanding, and application of the concept of evidence-based practice under supervision Examples: Works with supervisor to compare and contrast EBP approaches with other theoretical perspectives and interventions in the context of case conceptualization and treatment Appropriately selects evidence-base treatment under supervision and incorporates evidence into 	 Demonstrates knowledge, understanding, and application of the concept of evidence-based practice with minimal supervision Examples: Applies EBP concepts to practice with minimal supervision Reviews literature related to clinical work and applies knowledge to case conceptualization with 	 Independently applies knowledge and understanding of scientific foundations independently applied to practice Examples: Independently reviews scholarly literature relate to clinical work and applies knowledge to cas conceptualization
COMPETENCY: RESEARCH ELEMENT: SCIENTIFIC APPROACH Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 Demonstrates understanding of literature searches and systematic review methodology Examples: Participates effectively in scientific endeavors when available Demonstrates development of skills and habits in seeking, applying, and evaluating theoretical and research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology under supervision. Demonstrates development of skills and habits in seeking, applying, and evaluating theoretical and research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology with minimal supervision. Independently generates research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology with minimal supervision. • Mrites literature review as part of supervision requirement Effectively organizes and implements participant recruitment and data collection with supervision • Participates in research and scholarly activity, which may include presentations at local, regional, or national conferences; participation in research teams; submission of manuscripts for publication • Effectively handles ethics and safety issues that arise while carrying out research with • Emples:	Comments:				
Demonstrates understanding of literature searches and systematic review methodology Examples:Participates effectively in scientific endeavors when availableDemonstrates development of skills and habits in seeking, applying, and evaluating theoretical and research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology under supervision.Demonstrates development of skills and habits in seeking, applying, and evaluating theoretical and research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology under supervision.Independently generates research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology with minimal supervision.Independently generates research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology with minimal supervision.Independently generates research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology under supervision.Independently generates research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology with minimal supervision.Independently generates research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology with minimal supervision.Independently generates research knowledge relevant to the practice of psychology with minimal supervision.• Mrites literature review as part of supervision requirement• Effectively organizes and implements participant recruitment and data collection with supervision• Participates in research and scholarly activity, which may include presentations at local, regional, or national conferences; participation in research teams; submission of manuscripts for publicationDemonstrates development of skills skills and habits in seeking, applying, and evaluating theoretical and research knowledge base of psychology through implementing and reviewing research </th <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>					
	ELEMENT: SCIENTIFIC	APPROACH	Lorel 2	Loud 4	Lord 5

COMPETENCY: RESEARCH ELEMENT: SCIENTIFIC APPLICATION TO CLINICAL PRACTICE

Lovel 1	Lovel 2	Lovol 3	Loval 4	Lovel 5
Level 1 Demonstrates understanding of the need to evaluate practices, interventions, and programs Examples: • Acknowledges that psychologists evaluate the effectiveness of their professional activities • Engages in readings/supervision regarding methods of evaluating practices, interventions and programs	Level 2 Understands the need to evaluate practices, interventions, and programs Examples: Identifies possible methods of evaluating practices, interventions, and programs. Identifies the utility of each practice activity.	Level 3 Demonstrates knowledge of application of scientific methods to evaluating practices, interventions, and programs under supervision Examples: • Describes how outcomes are measured in each practice activity	Level 4 Demonstrates knowledge of application of scientific methods to evaluating practices, interventions, and programs with minimal supervision Examples: • Participates in program evaluation	Level 5 Independently applies scientific methods of evaluating practices, interventions, and programs Examples: Examples: Exaluates practice activities using accepted techniques Compiles and analyzes data on own clients (outcome measurement) Uses findings from outcome evaluation to alter intervention strategies as indicated
Comments:				Not yet achieved Level 1

RESEARCH AVERAGE:	
OVERALL RESEARCH COMMENTS:	

Competency II: Ethical and Legal Standards: Trainees respond professionally in increasingly complex situation with greater degree of independence across levels of training, including knowledge and in accordance with APA Code and relevant laws, regulations, rules, policies, standards, and guidelines

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Developing basic knowledge	Demonstrates basic	Demonstrates intermediate level	Demonstrates solid	Demonstrates advanced
of APA Ethical Principles	knowledge of the APA	knowledge and understanding of the	knowledge of the APA	knowledge of the APA Ethical
and Code of Conduct and of		APA Ethical Principles and Code of	Ethical Principles and Code	Principles and Code of Conduc
legal and regulatory issues	of Conduct and of legal and	Conduct and other relevant	of Conduct and relevant	and other relevant ethical, legal
Examples:	regulatory issues	ethical/professional codes, standards	legal standards	and professional standards;
• A beginning	Examples:	and guidelines, laws, statutes, and rules	Examples:	Examples:
knowledge of typical	Identifies potential	Examples:	Examines possible	• Independently seeks more
legal issues	conflicts between personal	Identifies ethical dilemmas	conflicts in complex	knowledge
• Recalls the content of	belief systems, APA ethics	• Actively consults with supervisor to	ethical issues	Teaches trainees about
APA Ethical Principles	code and legal issues	act upon ethical and legal aspects	Raises questions with	Ethical Principles and Code
and Code of Conduct)	Reviews and references	• Recognizes and discusses limits of	others regarding	of Conduct and relevant law
	local mental health law	own ethical and legal knowledge	ethics	
Comments:				Not yet achieved Level 1
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL	AND LEGAL STANDARDS			Not yet achieved Level 1
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL	AND LEGAL STANDARDS Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Not yet achieved Level 1
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1		Level 3 Integrates own moral	Level 4 Demonstrates high ethical	·
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in	Level 2			Level 5
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset,	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this	Integrates own moral	Demonstrates high ethical	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in	Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conduct	Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples:	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability Examples:	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional Examples:	 Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conduct Examples: Makes changes in patient care practices following supervision 	Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples: • Spontaneously integrates	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism Examples:
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability Examples: Verbalizes a desire to	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional Examples: • Discusses areas of strength and	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conductExamples:• Makes changes in patient care practices following supervision regarding ethical situations	Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples: • Spontaneously integrates awareness of a challenging	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism Examples: • Takes responsibility for
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability Examples: • Verbalizes a desire to help others	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional Examples: • Discusses areas of strength and growth opportunities in ethical	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conductExamples:• Makes changes in patient care practices following supervision regarding ethical situations• Articulates knowledge of own	 Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples: Spontaneously integrates awareness of a challenging situation related personal and 	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism Examples: • Takes responsibility for continuing professional
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability Examples: • Verbalizes a desire to help others • Acts ethically and	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional Examples: • Discusses areas of strength and	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conductExamples:• Makes changes in patient care practices following supervision regarding ethical situations• Articulates knowledge of own moral principles and ethical	 Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples: Spontaneously integrates awareness of a challenging situation related personal and professional ethical and moral 	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism Examples: • Takes responsibility for continuing professional development in ethics
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability Examples: • Verbalizes a desire to help others	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional Examples: • Discusses areas of strength and growth opportunities in ethical	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conductExamples:• Makes changes in patient care practices following supervision regarding ethical situations• Articulates knowledge of own	 Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples: Spontaneously integrates awareness of a challenging situation related personal and professional ethical and mora issues in professional 	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism Examples: • Takes responsibility for continuing professional development in ethics • Models professional
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability Examples: • Verbalizes a desire to help others • Acts ethically and	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional Examples: • Discusses areas of strength and growth opportunities in ethical	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conductExamples:• Makes changes in patient care practices following supervision regarding ethical situations• Articulates knowledge of own moral principles and ethical	 Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples: Spontaneously integrates awareness of a challenging situation related personal and professional ethical and moral 	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism Examples: • Takes responsibility for continuing professional development in ethics
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability Examples: • Verbalizes a desire to help others • Acts ethically and	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional Examples: • Discusses areas of strength and growth opportunities in ethical	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conductExamples:• Makes changes in patient care practices following supervision regarding ethical situations• Articulates knowledge of own moral principles and ethical	 Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples: Spontaneously integrates awareness of a challenging situation related personal and professional ethical and mora issues in professional 	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism Examples: • Takes responsibility for continuing professional development in ethics • Models professional
COMPETENCY: ETHICAL ELEMENT: CONDUCT Level 1 Conducts interactions in nearly all circumstances with a professional mindset, sense of duty, and accountability Examples: Verbalizes a desire to help others Acts ethically and	Level 2 Demonstrates conduct that illustrates insight into own behavior and is able to use this information to remain professional Examples: • Discusses areas of strength and growth opportunities in ethical	Integrates own moral principles/ethical values in professional conductExamples:• Makes changes in patient care practices following supervision regarding ethical situations• Articulates knowledge of own moral principles and ethical	 Demonstrates high ethical standards across settings and circumstances Examples: Spontaneously integrates awareness of a challenging situation related personal and professional ethical and mora issues in professional 	Level 5 Demonstrates an in-depth understanding of ethical conduct and helps colleagues with issues of professionalism Examples: • Takes responsibility for continuing professional development in ethics • Models professional

OVERALL ETHICAL AND LEGAL STANDARDS COMMENTS:

Competency III: Individual and Cultural Diversity: Trainees must demonstrate the ability to conduct all professional activities with sensitivity to human diversity. They demonstrate knowledge, awareness, sensitivity and skill when working with diverse individuals and communities who embody a variety of cultural and personal background and characteristics.

COMPETENCY: INDIVIDUAL AND CULTURAL DIVERSITY ELEMENT: INTERACTION OF SELF AND OTHERS IN THE CONEXT OF CULTURAL DIVERSITY AND INDIVIDUAL FACTORS; (e.g., cultural, individual, and role differences, including age, gender, gender identity, race, ethnicity, culture, origin, religion, sexual orientation, disability, language, and SES)

nds the role of culture tions with diverse sses in supervision own ledge, awareness and standing of the way re and context shape	Independently applies knowledge of the role of culture in interactions with diverse others Examples: • Regularly uses knowledge about culture to monitor and	Seeks out opportunities to strengthen knowledge, awareness, and understanding about how individuals have unique dimensions of diversity and attitudes towards diverse others Examples: • Critically evaluates feedback and initiates supervision	Models how to apply knowledge of individuals as cultural beings in assessment, treatment, and consultation Examples: • Models ongoing self- reflective practice and
sses in supervision own ledge, awareness and standing of the way	Regularly uses knowledge about culture to monitor and	Critically evaluates feedback	Models ongoing self-
n interactions rstands the role of ple cultural identities in ctions among individuals des examples of the rtance of attention to sity when interacting others	 improve effectiveness of self in interactions Independently articulates and monitors multiple cultural identities in interactions with others Seeks consultation or supervision when uncertain about issues diversity in interactions with others 	 regularly about diversity issues Initiates supervision about diversity issues with as they relate to interactions others Seeks out resources, training, and/or education on individual and cultural differences 	 reflective practice and skills regarding culturally attentive interactions with others Supervises or teaches trainees about the importance of, and skills for, interacting with individuals in a culturally attentive manner
si	ty when interacting	ty when interactingsupervision when uncertainhersabout issues diversity in	ty when interacting herssupervision when uncertain about issues diversity in

COMPETENCY: INDIVIDUAL AND CULTURAL DIVERSITY ELMENT: APPLICATIONS

as out opportunities to ngthen the application of wledge, sensitivity, and erstanding regarding ural diversity issues in er to work effectively with rrse others in assessment, tment, and consultation mples: Adapts professional behavior and clinical approach in a manner that is sensitive and appropriate to the needs of diverse others Seeks consultation and supervision to address individual and cultural diversity Engages in self-reflection regarding personal experience, attitudes, and behaviors, and how these	 Models how to apply knowledge, skills, and attitude regarding dimensions of diversity to professional work (consultation, assessment, diagnosis, treatment, and scholarly activities) Examples: Independently monitors and applies knowledge of others as cultural beings in assessment, treatment, and consultation Educates others regarding the importance of attending to patient and family diversity factors when providing care Serves as a role model of compassion, integrity, respect for others, and sensitivity to diverse patient populations
	may affect clinical care

OVERALL INDIVIDUAL AND CULTURAL DIVERSITY COMMENTS:

_

Competency IV: Professional Values and Attitudes: Trainees are expected to respond professionally in increasingly complex situations as evidenced in behavior that reflects the values and attitudes of psychology.

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Understands professional values; behaves honestly Examples: • Communicates honestly • Takes responsibility for own actions	 Identifies and actively acquiring skills to manage professional situations that challenge values Examples: Identifies situations that challenge professional 	Adherence to professional values more effortless; Able to work with supervisor to manage situations that are challenging Examples: • Seeks faculty/supervisor	Able to identify and manage situations that challenge adherence to professional values, consulting supervisor Examples: • Monitors and resolves	Monitors and independently resolves situations that challenge professional values and integrity Examples: • Takes action to correct
 Discusses basic knowledge of APA Ethical Principles and CofC Recognizes own responsibility to uphold professional values 	 values, and accepts faculty/supervisor guidance Acquires and practices skills to manage situations which challenge professional values 	 Beeks faculty/supervisor guidance for situations that challenge professional values Demonstrates openness and responsiveness to supervisor Discusses failures and lapses in adherence to professional values 	situations that challenge professional values and integrity, consulting with supervisor	 Models integrity and professionalism in all situations

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5						
 Understands how to conduct oneself professionally Examples: Engages in appropriate personal hygiene/attire Distinguishes between appropriate and inappropriate language and demeanor 	 Conducts oneself in a professional manner in typical professional settings Examples: Conducts oneself in a professionally appropriate manner – including communication with others 	 Conducts oneself in a professional manner, across a variety of settings Examples: Understands and accepts responsibility for how actions impact one's own professional identity, on clients and public Utilizes appropriate language and demeanor 	 Adapts professional manner to the context at hand, flexibly and seamlessly Examples: Consistently conducts self in a professional manner across and settings and situations 	Conducts self in a professional manner when challenged by clients, colleagues or community members Examples: • Verbal and nonverbal communications are appropriate to the professional context		

Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: PROFESSIONAL VALUES AND ATTITUDES ELEMENT: ACCOUNTABILITY

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
 Accountable and reliable for professional demands Examples: Turns in assignments by deadlines Discusses personal organization skills Follows policies and procedures of institution Follows through on commitments Consistently keeps appointments with supervisors, patients, etc 	 Beginning to take responsibility of own workload Examples: Completes required case documentation promptly and accurately Shows evidence of organization and time management Schedules appropriate appointments with supervisors, patients and other professionals 	 Responsible for own actions and schedule with increased autonomy Examples: Plans and organizes own workload, with supervisor oversight Accepts responsibility for meeting deadlines Uses supervision to improve effectiveness of practice Manages time effectively 	 Independently accepts personal responsibility across settings and contexts Examples: Independently accepts personal responsibility across settings and contexts Flexible with scheduling and time management Ability to complete tasks and goes beyond expectations in order to solve difficult problems/challenges 	 More productive and increased productivity and accountability of others Examples: Enhances own professional productivity Leads efforts to create systems to cover professional duties when appropriate
Comments:				Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: PROFESSIONAL VALUES AND ATTITUDES ELEMENT: CONCERN FOR OTHERS

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Demonstrates awareness of the need to uphold and protect the welfare of others	Demonstrates awareness of the need to uphold and protect the welfare of others (expanding to	Acts to understand and safeguard the welfare of others	Anticipates needs of clients in order to proactively advocate on their behalf	Independently acts to safeguard the welfare of others ¹
 (clients specifically) Examples: Articulates the importance of confidentiality, privacy, and informed consent Displays initiative to help others 	 professionals and team members) Examples: Identifies challenging professional situations and articulates the need for compassion for other professionals in these difficult situations 	 Examples: Displays respect in interpersonal interactions with others including those from divergent perspectives or backgrounds Is responsive in demonstrating kindness and compassion 	 Examples: Proactively advocates on behalf of individual patients, families, and groups of children in need 	 Examples: Respectful of the beliefs and values of colleagues even when inconsistent with personal beliefs and values Compassionate with others who are dissimilar
Comments:				Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: PROFESSIONAL VALUES AND ATTITUDES ELEMENT: PROFESSIONAL IDENTITY

IDENIIII				
Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
 Demonstrates beginning understanding of self as a professional psychologist Examples: Discusses accurately the program and profession (training model, core competencies) Discusses the importance of practicing within one's competence 	 Beginning to assess and formulate one's growth in the role of professional psychologist Examples: Responds to supervisor feedback and questions around developing psychologist identity 	 Displays emerging professional identity as psychologist; self- reflection regarding personal and professional functioning; acquiring information for how to continue to develop professional identity as a professional psychologist Examples: Takes responsibility for ensuring that the client receives the best possible care Attends colloquia, workshops, conferences Identifies self as an emerging professional psychologist Uses resources (e.g., supervision, literature) for professional development 	 Displays consolidation of professional identity as a psychologist Examples: Embraces the responsibilities inherent in the psychologist role Participates in the professional community to maintain competence and for growth 	 Models and encourages others to formulate identity as a professional psychologist; seeks knowledge about issues central to the field; integrates science and practice Examples: Keeps up with advances in profession Supports the growth and development of others defining themselves as psychologists
Comments:				
				Not yet achieved Level 1

PROFESSIONAL VALUES AND ATTITUDES AVERAGE: OVERALL PROFESSIONAL VALUES AND ATTITUDES COMMENTS:

Competency V: Communication and Interpersonal Skills: Develop effective communication oral, nonverbal, and written communication skills and the ability to perform and maintain successful professional relationship

Displays awareness of and ability to perform basic interpersonal skillsForms relationships with clients, peers/colleagues, supervisorsMaintains productive and respectful relationships with clients, peers/colleagues, supervisorsManages effective relationships with a wide range of clients, soupervisors and professionals from other disciplinesManages effective relationships with a wide range of clients, soupervisors and professionals metroactions with hose who have different professional models or perspectivesForms effective working relationships with a vide range of clients, soupervisors and professionals metroactions with hose who have different professional models or perspectivesForms effective working relationships with patients, relationships with patients, relationships with patients, relationships with patients, their families, noter soupervisorsManages effective relationships with a wide range of clients, colleagues, supervisorsDisplays awareness of and ability to perform basic interpersonal skills verbally and non- verballyForms effective working relationships with perform basic interpersonal relationships with clients, peers, faculty, supervisors • Develops working relationships with patients, and issues and respective • Develops working relationships with peersonal relationships with clients, peers, faculty, supervisors • Participates actively in multidisciplinary care team • Develops thrapeutic relationships with patients, families, portes sonals and across situations • Tailors communication strategies to different predsonals and across situations • Provides consultation to patients, families, and other needs and understandingForms and maintains productive and relationships with <br< th=""><th>Level 1</th><th>Level 2</th><th>Level 3</th><th>Level 4</th><th>Level 5</th></br<>	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
	 ability to perform basic interpersonal skills Examples: Listens to and is empathic with others Demonstrates interpersonal skills verbally and non- verbally Describes and respects cultural and linguistic diversity in communicating with people of different 	 peers/colleagues, supervisors Examples: Works cooperatively and collaboratively with peers Forms effective working alliances with most clients Engages with supervisors to work effectively Develops working relationships 	 relationships with clients, peers/colleagues, supervisors Examples: Coordinates respectful and collegial interactions with those who have different professional models or perspectives Maintains satisfactory and effective interpersonal relationships with clients, peers, faculty, supervisors Participates actively in multidisciplinary care team Develops therapeutic relationships with patients and families in 	 and respectful relationships with clients, peers/colleagues, supervisors and professionals from other disciplines Examples: Develops and maintains relationships with patients, their families, other professionals, communities Integrates knowledge of team organization, relevant systems and policies and relationshipbuilding principles to promoting effective relationships among teams Tailors communication strategies to different patients, families, professionals and across situations Provides consultation to patients, families and others tailored to their needs and 	 relationships with a wide range of clients, colleagues, organizations and communities Examples: Negotiates challenging, difficult and complex relationships Develops enriching interpersonal relationships Models effective relationships with clients, peers, other professionals Assists/supervises others to maintain effective working

COMPETENCY: COMMUNICATION AND INTERPERSONAL SKILLS ELEMENT: EXPRESSIVE SKILLS

feelings, and info clearly using verbal, nonverbal, and written skills- applied to clinical and written skills and wri	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
	 Communicates ideas, feelings, and info clearly using verbal, nonverbal, and written skills Examples: Writes in a way that is organized, easy to understand, and conveys the main point Uses verbal language that is organized, easy to understand and conveys main points Maintains appropriate boundaries in sharing information by electronic communication and in 	 Communicates ideas, feelings, and info clearly using verbal, nonverbal, and written skills- applied to clinical situations Examples: Understands terms and concepts used in professional texts and in others' case reports Prepares clearly written assessment reports Uses professional terms and concepts appropriately and clearly in discussions, case reports, etc. Documents clinical encounters in the medical record in an accurate and timely way consistent with 	 Communicates clearly using verbal, nonverbal, and written skills in a professional context Examples: Provides verbal feedback to client regarding assessment and diagnosis using language the client can understand in challenging situations Presents to supervisor in a succinct, organized, well-summarized way for typical cases Effectively facilitates communication with patients, families and other professionals Demonstrates written communication with patients, families, colleagues and other health care providers that is appropriate, efficient, and pertinent Appropriately balances patient confidentiality and the family's right to know Appropriately balances patient confidentiality and communication with the treatment team Consistently engages patients and 	 Demonstrates clear understanding and use of professional language across care providers under complicated circumstances Examples: Seeks out supervisor support to enhance skills related to communication for increasingly complex clinical and professional situations Ensures transitions of care are optimally completed Demonstrates skillful communication that is appropriate, efficient, concise and pertinent with patients, families, and colleagues Recruits appropriate assistance from supervisors and external sources when cultural differences create barriers Documents thoroughly and efficiently patient encounters Uses discretion and judgment in electronic communication with families, patients, and 	 Verbal, nonverbal, and written communications are informative, articulate, succinct, sophisticated, and well-integrated Examples: Demonstrates descriptive, understandable command of language, both written and verbal Prepares sophisticated and compelling case reports Treatment summaries are concise, yet

COMMUNICATION AND INTERPERSONAL SKILLS AVERAGE:

OVERALL COMMUNICATION AND INTERPERSONAL SKILLS COMMENTS:

Competency VI: Assessment: Trainees develop competence in evidence-based psychological and/or neuropsychological assessment with a variety of diagnoses, problems and needs

COMPETENCY: ASSESSMENT ELEMENT: DIAGNOSTIC INTERVIEWING Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 4 Level 5 Uses appropriate interview strategies to Uses appropriate interview **Demonstrates basic Demonstrates ability under Independently conducts** knowledge of techniques for moderate supervision to implement gather information with supervision question strategies to efficiently complex diagnostic basic clinical interviewing interviews and teaches basic knowledge of clinical gather more nuanced information, Examples: and mental status exam interviewing interviewing & mental status exam with minimal supervision • Acquires accurate and relevant data from Examples: Examples: Examples: Examples: interviews and mental status exams • Conducts ٠ Discusses in Conducts comprehensive • Extracts the relevant data from ٠ Assesses patient safety and considers the comprehensive supervision different biopsychosocial interview observing others' interview potential for trauma, abuse, aggression, interviewing strategies biopsychosocial Obtains sensitive data not Begins to acquire basic data and high-risk behaviors • interview Discusses in relevant to referral questions readily offered • Conducts a comprehensive supervision which data Teaches others to Matches interview to biopsychosocial interview with effectively gather to collect and from patient's cognitive level moderate supervision information whom **Comments:** Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: ASSESSMENT ELEMENT: EVALUATION/MEASUREMENT/ASSESSMENT TOOLS

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Demonstrates	Compares measurement	Selects assessment measures	Selects assessment measures	Flexibly determines
awareness of need to	methods across domains of	based on psychometrics and	appropriately with minimal supervision	assessments needed, with
utilize appropriate	functioning under supervision	appropriateness with moderate		ability to shift to
measurement tools.		supervision	Demonstrates awareness of the strengths	alternative strategies in
	Accurately administers and		and limitations of administration, scoring	response to additional
Demonstrates basic	scores measures, with	Demonstrates awareness of the	and interpretation of assessment	information
knowledge of	knowledge of psychometrics	strengths/weaknesses of	measures as related to diversity factors	
administration and		administration, scoring and	under minimal supervision	Stays updated as new
scoring of traditional	Demonstrates awareness of	interpretation of measures as		measures are developed
assessment measures	importance of observation in	they relate to cultural diversity	Conducts evaluation in ways that are	
	conducting assessment	under moderate supervision	responsive to diversity	
Comments:				

Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: ASSESSMENT ELEMENT: CASE CONCEPTUALIZATION

Demostrates basic mowledge regarding the range of normal and abormal behavior to diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity With moderate supervision, normal/abnormal behavior to concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to conceptualize and diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity With moderate supervision, normal/abnormal behavior to conceptualize and diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity With moderate supervision, and disensis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Intervision applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Intervision applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Intervision applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Intervision applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Intervision applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to conceptualize and diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Intervision applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Independently applies concepts of normal/abnormal poponois development and diversity Independently applies concepts of normal/abnormal poponois Independently applies concepts of normal/abnormal poponois Independently applies concepts of normal/abnormal poponois Independently applies concepts of normal/abnormal poponois Independentity applies concepts of normal/abnormal poponois <t< th=""><th>Level 1</th><th>Level 2</th><th>Level 3</th><th>Level 4</th><th>Level 5</th></t<>	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
 and problems, precipitating stressors or events, predisposing life events or stressors, perpetuating and protective factors, and prognosis Begins to formulate appropriate diagnosis and recommendations, demonstrating understanding of basic DSM-5, criteria, with significant supervision Comments: 	 Demonstrates basic knowledge regarding the range of normal and abnormal behavior in the context of stages of human development and diversity Examples: Lists criteria for common DSM-5 diagnoses in infancy, childhood, and adolescence Participates, with support from supervisors, in diagnostic formulation and case 	 Discusses ways of applying concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Examples: Has a strong understanding of normative, adaptive, and maladaptive child emotional, cognitive, social, and behavioral development Understands pediatric illness/injury and the effects of disease/treatment process on development 	 With moderate supervision, applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to conceptualize and diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity Examples: Describes how development influences or interacts with the presentation of psychopathology Demonstrates sufficient knowledge to include relevant medical and neurological conditions in the differential diagnoses Organizes case formulation in a systematic manner that follows a conceptual model 	 With minimal supervision applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to conceptualize and diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity, with understanding of a variety of diagnoses both within and outside of area of specialty Examples: Uses information regarding biological, psychosocial, and physical health functioning in making diagnosis (bio- psycho-social model/ neurodevelopmental systems model) Shows knowledge sufficient to identify a wide range of psychiatric conditions in patients with medical disorders Demonstrates understanding of developmental disorders within the context of medical diagnoses 	Independently applies concepts of normal/abnormal behavior to conceptualize and diagnosis in the context of stages of human development and diversity, with understanding of a variety of diagnoses both within and outside of area of specialty Examples: • Demonstrates a sophisticated understanding of current controversies in diagnosis • Expands the differential diagnosis
		 and problems, precipitating stressors or events, predisposing life events or stressors, perpetuating and protective factors, and prognosis Begins to formulate appropriate diagnosis, demonstrating understanding of basic DSM-5 criteria, with significant 	 demonstrate how diagnosis is based on objective information Under moderate supervision, formulates appropriate diagnosis and recommendations demonstrating understanding of DSM-5, 	 into a concise but comprehensive formulation Independently formulates appropriate diagnosis and recommendations, demonstrating understanding of rare 	rare presentations or
	Comments:				

COMPETENCY: ASSESSMENT ELEMENT: COMMUNICATION OF FINDINGS

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
 Aware of models of report writing and progress notes Examples: Demonstrates knowledge of content of evaluation reports and progress notes Writes select portions of psychological reports with significant supervision 	 Describes results of common measures in written reports and progress notes Examples: Provides appropriate organization/structure to reports and progress notes Writes partial psychological reports Discusses with supervisor how findings will be related to parents/child Verbally communicates some select portions of the assessment results to parents/child during feedback 	 Effectively writes assessment reports and progress notes and communicates assessment findings verbally to client/caregivers with moderate supervision Examples: Writes complete psychological reports that includes accurate synthesis of results with moderate supervision Works with supervisor to prepare and provide feedback regarding findings Includes both strengths and weaknesses in written and verbal feedback Communicates diagnostic information to client/caregivers in clear and direct language Results are provided in an open and honest, yet supportive and sensitive manner Answers questions appropriately with supervisor support 	 Communicates results in written and verbal form clearly, constructively, and accurately in a conceptually appropriate manner – for variety of diagnoses with minimal supervision Examples: Reports reflect data that has been collected via interview and standardized measures Effectively communicates the results of assessments in written with minimal supervision Includes both strengths and weaknesses in written and verbal feedback Flexibly communicates results based on family understanding with minimal supervision Effectively answers questions with minimal supervision 	 Independently communicates results in written and verbal form clearly, constructively, and accurately in a conceptually appropriate manner – For a broad variet of diagnoses and concerns Examples: Writes an effective, comprehensive report Reports written for varied audiences Efficiently communicates results while minimizing jargon Effectively answers questions from client/caregivers – to include sensitive and potentially controversial topics, as well as being ab to respond to novel questions/concerns Effectively manages client/caregiver grief in feedback session
Comments:				Not yet achieved Level 1
ASSESSMENT AVERAGE:				
_				

Competency VII: Intervention: Demonstrate competence in evidence-based practice (EBP) consistent with a variety of diagnoses, problems and needs and across a range of therapeutic orientations, techniques, and approaches

COMPETENCY: INTERVENTION ELEMENT: KNOWLEDGE OF EBP

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Demonstrates basic	Demonstrates basic knowledge of	Applies knowledge of EBP, including	Begins to self-monitor own	Independently applies
knowledge of the <u>value</u>	scientific, theoretical, and	empirical bases, clinical expertise,	process with evidence-based	knowledge of evidence-based
of EBP	contextual bases of assessment,	and client preferences	practice and uses EBP with	practice; models and
Examples:	and intervention	Examples:	little supervision	disseminates EBP
 Discusses 	Examples:	Independently discriminates among	Examples:	Examples:
 different interventions based on EBP Selects an appropriate evidence-based information tool 	 Investigates literature with supervisor guidance Identifies strength and weaknesses of different assessments and intervention Selects EBP for different problems populations 	 evidence relevant to clinical practice Creates treatment plan reflecting empirical findings, clinical judgment, and client preferences with supervisor Applies knowledge of EBP with moderate supervision 	 Writes a comprehensive case summary w/EBP Presents rationale for intervention strategies Identifies and meets self- directed learning goals with little guidance 	 Teaches others to efficiently incorporate evidence Contributes to the knowledge base
Comments:				
				Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: INTERVENTION ELEMENT: TREATMENT PLANNING

			-	
Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Displays an emerging	Displays a growing	Formulates and conceptualizes	Demonstrates a solid case	Independently plans
understanding of the	understanding of using	cases and plans interventions,	formulation grounded in EBP	interventions; case
relationship between	ongoing assessment, conducts	requires anticipatory guidance for	and theory, able to think	conceptualizations and
assessment and intervention,	a more flexible personalized	session planning and	through multiple case	intervention plans are
conducts a rigid	interview, requires	troubleshooting	scenarios and treatment plan	specific to case and context,
standardized interview	considerable supervision	Examples:	during supervision or in vivo	others seek out their input
Examples:	Examples:	Displays treatment planning and	Examples:	Examples:
 Articulates a beginning 	Formulates basic case	case conceptualization skills	Writes case conceptualization	Conceptualizes cases
understanding of how	conceptualization and	Integrates best available research	and collaborative treatment	independently and
assessment guides	treatment plans	in the context of individual	plans using EBP and theory	accurately
intervention and uses a	Identifies barriers to	differences	Implements interventions	considering diversity
template to prompt all	communication, but has	• Uses the interview template to	with fidelity and adapts	Independently selects
questions	difficulty managing them	effectively establish rapport	where appropriate	appropriate intervention(s)
Comments:				

Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: INTERVENTION ELEMENT: SKILLS

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
 Displays basic helping skills Examples: Utilizes helping skills, such as empathic /reflective listening, framing problems Uses non-verbal communication such as eye-contact and body positioning with clients to convey interest and concern 	 Displays basic clinical skills Examples: Establishes rapport with uncomplicated clients/Develops rapport with most clients Reports, mostly accurately, to the supervisor about how therapeutic relationships are being developed and potential areas of concern Able to shift from relationship building to intervention delivery 	 Displays clinical skills within the context of a therapeutic relationship Examples: Establishes and maintains rapport and a therapeutic relationship with typical clients Independently seeks supervision in complicated treatment situations Able to maintain therapeutic relationship while providing evidence-based intervention Anticipates, reads, and reacts to emotions in with appropriate and professional behavior in nearly all typical situations 	 Displays clinical skills with a variety of clients, in consultative therapeutic relationships Examples: Establishes and maintains rapport and a therapeutic relationship with complicated clients while providing effective, evidence-based intervention Continues to seek supervision in complicated treatment situations 	 Displays clinical skills with a wide variety of clients and uses good judgment even in unexpected or difficult situations Examples: Uses good judgment about unexpected issues, such as crises, use of supervision Effectively delivers intervention despite ruptures in therapeutic relationship
Comments:				Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: INTERVENTION ELEMENT: IMPLEMENTATION

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Demonstrates basic knowledge of intervention	Demonstrates basic ability to establish a therapeutic relationship	Displays clinical skills within the context of a therapeutic relationship	Implements interventions with fidelity to empirical	Flexibility to adapts empirical treatment models
 strategies Examples: Articulates awareness of the concept of evidence-based practice Articulates awareness of theoretical basis of one intervention and some general associated strategies 	 with clients Examples: Discusses possible EBP and rational for techniques used Uses communication to establish and maintain a therapeutic alliance; tailor communication to the individual Collaboratively sets session goals and agenda 	 Examples: Case presentations demonstrate application of EBP Ability to devise, implement and flexibly revise an EBP plan Implements evidenced-based wellness, health promotion, and prevention interventions appropriate to the health concern Terminates treatment successfully 	 models Examples: Independently and effectively implements intervention strategies Effectively communicates about progress in written and verbal form appropriately tailored for different consumers 	 where appropriate Examples: Independently recognizes and manages special circumstances
Comments:				Not yet achieved I evel 1

Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: INTERVENTION ELEMENT: PROGRESS MONITORING

MONITORING				
Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Demonstrates beginning knowledge of the assessment of intervention progress and outcome	Treatment goals are created in a measurable and observable format; Treatment progress is monitored, but a measure of treatment progress is not identified	Evaluates treatment progress and modifies treatment planning as indicated, utilizing established outcome measures with the support of supervisor	Evaluates treatment progress and modifies treatment planning as indicated, utilizing established outcome measures with minimal support from supervisor	Independently evaluates treatment progress and modifies planning as indicated, even in the absence of established outcome measures
 Examples: Articulate an understanding of the use of repeated assessment to guide treatment 	 Examples: Identifies measures of treatment progress Appropriately administers, scores and documents treatment progress and outcome measures 	 Examples: Describes instances of lack of progress and actions taken in response Demonstrates ability to evaluate treatment progress Alters treatment plan accordingly with the support of supervisor 	 Examples: Independently and accurately identifies actions needed to take response to lack of progress and implement them with minimal supervision Alters treatment plan accordingly with minimal supervisor 	 Examples: Critically evaluates own performance Seeks consultation when necessary Independently assesses treatment effectiveness & efficiency
Comments:				
				Not yet achieved Level 1

INTERVENTION AVERAGE:		
INTERVENTION COMMENTS:		

Competency VIII: Supervision: Supervision involves the mentoring and monitoring of trainees and others in the development of competence and skill in professional practice and the effective evaluation of those skills. Supervisors act as role models and maintain responsibility for the activities they oversee.

COMPETENCY: S ELEMENT: SUPE	SUPERVISION RVISORY PROCEDURES			
Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Awareness of	Demonstrates basic	Identifies and tracks progress of one's goals	Demonstrates knowledge of effectively	Demonstrates knowledge
basic	knowledge of supervision	and tasks of supervision while providing	evaluating and addressing competency	of effectively evaluating
understanding of	models and practices	timely and relevant feedback	within a supervisee	and addressing
supervision	Examples:	Examples:	Examples:	competency within self as
 Examples: Identifies the basic tenets of a specific model of supervision 	 Articulates supervisor role Reviews the policies and procedures related to performance evaluations for supervisees Describes one's expectations of the supervision relationship, 	 Emphasizes clear articulation of training goals Identifies goals and tasks of supervision related to developmental progression Tracks progress achieving goals and setting new goals Appreciates normative developmental challenges vs. truly problematic behaviors 	 Manages the power differential within the supervisory relationship so that collaboration of care is optimized Balances amount and type of feedback given in any one sessions Addresses problems directly Supervisor remains sensitive to individual and cultural differences 	 a supervisor Examples: Demonstrates knowledge of the scholarly literature Assesses one's own supervision competency
Comments				Not yet achieved Level 1

COMPETENCY: SUPERVISION ELEMENT: SUPERVISORY

PRACTICE				
Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
 Basic knowledge of individual and cultural differences as they apply to the supervision Examples: Respects the diversity of all members of the supervision triad, including the supervisor, the supervisee and the client(s) Understands the power differential 	 Demonstrates ability to apply basic supervisory practices; Begins to provide helpful supervisory input Examples: Provides comments that ensures the welfare of the client(s) being discussed in group rounds Identifies core skills on which to provide feedback to peers Demonstrates ability to provide constructive criticism to peers 	 Provides effective supervised supervision to less advanced students, peers, or other service providers in typical cases with ongoing supervision; incorporating topics of diversity Examples: Initiates collaborative discussion of the expectations, goals, and tasks of supervision Attends to personal factors that may affect the supervisory relationship and process Demonstrates knowledge of APA guidelines in supervision practice Coordinates with other training professionals to coordination of goals 	 Provides effective supervised supervision to less advanced students, peers, or other service providers in typical cases while integrating diversity topics consistently Examples Modifies teaching strategies based on learner's needs Helps develop evidence based treatment plans Provides supervision input according to developmental level of supervisee 	 Provides culturally sensitive supervision independently to others in routine and increasingly difficult cases Examples: Enhances supervisee reflection on clinical practice Demonstrates integration of diversity and multiple identity aspects in conceptualization of supervision process with all participants
Comments:				Not yet achieved Level 1

SUPERVISION AVERAGE:	
SUPERVISION COMMENTS:	

Competency IX: Consultation and interprofessional/interdisciplinary skills: Consultation and interprofessional/interdisciplinary skills are reflected in the intentional collaboration of professionals in health service to address a problem, seek or share knowledge, or promote effectiveness in professional activities.

exposure level awareness of referral questionsreferral questions in a hypothetical professional activityquestion, ability to select appropriate means of assessment with supervisionselect appropriate and contextually sensitive assessments that answers consultation referral questionquestions based on concerns of others, without clear referral without clear referral escienceExamples:Examples:• Describes different referral questions under supervision• Describes referral question independently • Identifies sources and types of assessment with supervisionExamples:• Creates guidelines/protocol for referral question • Selects appropriate means of assessment with supervisionExamples:• Answers referral question independently• Creates guidelines/protocol for referral question • Selects appropriate means of assessment with supervision• Assists other providers in shapin	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
Examples:Examples:Describes different referral questions under supervisionDescribes different referral questions under supervisionDescribes referral question independentlyExamples:Examples:Examples:• Understands referral question as described by supervisor• Describes different referral questions under supervision• Describes referral question independently tools with supervision• Answers referral question independently• Creates guidelines/protocol for referral question of assessment with supervision• Understands referral questions supervisor• Describes referral question independently tools with supervision• Answers referral question independently• Creates guidelines/protocol for referral question assessment tools independently• Implements approach to data collection• Implements systematic approach to data• Assists other providers in shaping	exposure level awareness of referral	referral questions in a hypothetical professional	question, ability to select appropriate means of assessment with supervision	select appropriate and contextually sensitive assessments that answers	concerns of others,
	• Understands referral question as described by	Describes different referral questions	 Describes referral question independently Identifies sources and types of assessment tools with supervision Selects appropriate means of assessment with supervision 	 Answers referral question independently Identifies sources and types of assessment tools independently Implements systematic approach to data 	Creates guidelines/protocols for referral questions

COMPETENCY: CONSULTATION AND INTERPROFESSIONAL/INTERDISCIPLINARY SKILLS ELEMENT: FINDINGS

Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Level 4	Level 5
No expectation regarding communication of consultation findings.	 Able to observe communication of consultation findings and reflect in supervision on the experience Examples: Discusses supervisor's verbal/written communication in supervision 	 Applies knowledge to provide effective assessment feedback and to articulate appropriate recommendations with supervision Examples: Discusses with supervisor process of informing consultee of assessment findings Informs consultee of assessment findings in written and verbal format with moderate supervision 	 Applies effective assessment feedback and to articulate appropriate recommendations with minimal supervision Examples: Prepares clear verbal feedback, reports and recommendations to all appropriate parties with minimal supervision 	 Applies knowledge to provide assessment feedback and appropriate recommendations independently Examples: Prepares clear, useful verbal feedback, consultation reports and recommendations to all appropriate parties independently Publishes/presents methods of providing consultation Supervises consultation
Comments:				Not yet achieved Level 1

No expectation of ability to apply consultation methodsObserves different consultative methods an comments on their applicationExamples: • Discusses application of different consultative methods for different settings supervision	 Examples: Demonstrates ability to identify collaborative methods across systems, clients, or settings Identifies appropriate interventions 	 Demonstrates role of consultant with minimal supervision Determines situations that require different role functions and shifts roles accordingly to meet referral needs Examples: Identifies and implements consultation interventions based on assessment findings with minimal supervision Accurately matches professional role function to situation with minimal supervision Provides integrated care for patients and families through collaboration with other 	 Provides consultation to organizations to improve the health care team and patient safety independently Examples: Provides integrated care for patients and families through collaboration with other professionals independently Provides consultation to a variety of community-based systems, medical professionals, and mental
	professionals with moderate supervision	 professionals with minimal supervision Provides consultation to a variety of community-based systems (e.g., schools, courts), medical professionals, and mental health professionals with minimal supervision 	 Professionals, and mental health professionals independently Supervises junior learners in providing consultation

COMPETENCY: CONSULTATION AND INTERPROFESSIONAL/INTERDISCIPLINARY SKILLS

CONSULTATION AND INTERPROFESSIONAL/INTERDISCIPLINARY SKILLS AVERAGE: ______ CONSULTATION AND INTERPROFESSIONAL/INTERDISCIPLINARY SKILLS COMMENTS:

Supervisor's Overall Comments:

Summary of strengths:

Areas of additional development or remediation, including recommendations:

Conclusions

For Interns

Competency goals for evaluation done at 3 months: All competency areas will be rated at a level of competence of 2 or higher. No competency areas will be rated at a 1.

Competency goals for written evaluation done at 6 months: 100% competency areas will be rated at a level of competence of 2.5 or higher. No competency areas will be rated at a 1.

Competency goals for written evaluation done at 9 months: 100% of competency areas will be rated at a level of competence rating of a 2.5 by primary supervisor and/or area of specialty. No competency areas will be rated as a 1. The intern is expected to show progression from the 6 month evaluation point.

Competency goals for written evaluation done at 11-12 months: 100% of competency areas will be rated at a level of competence rating of a 3 by primary supervisor and/or area of specialty. No competency areas will be rated as a 1. The intern is at a competency level expected relative to other trainees at the same level. Note: exceptions may occur outside their practice area.

____The intern has successfully completed the above overall competency goal. We have reviewed this evaluation together.

_____The intern **has not** successfully completed the above overall competency goal. We have made a joint written remedial plan, which follows, with specific dates indicated for completion. Once completed, the rotation will be re-evaluated using another evaluation form, or on this form, marked with a different color ink. We have reviewed this evaluation together.

Supervisor signature	Dated
----------------------	-------

I have received a full explanation of this evaluation. I understand that my signature does not necessarily indicate my agreement. I have provided additional comments below.

Additional comments from the intern:

Dated _____

For Fellows

Competency goals for evaluation done at 3 months: All competency areas will be rated at a level of competence of 3 or higher. No competency areas will be rated at a 2.

Competency goals for written evaluation done at 6 months: 100% competency areas will be rated at a level of competence of 3.5 or higher. No competency areas will be rated at a 2.

Competency goals for written evaluation done at 12 months: 100% of competency areas will be rated at a level of competence rating of a 4 by primary supervisor and/or area of
specialty. No competency areas will be rated as a 2. The fellow is at a competency level expected relative to other trainees at the same level. Note: exceptions may occur outside their
practice area.

_____The fellow **has** successfully completed the above overall competency goal. We have reviewed this evaluation together.

_____The fellow **has not** successfully completed the above overall competency goal. We have made a joint written remedial plan, which follows, with specific dates indicated for completion. Once completed, the rotation will be re-evaluated using another evaluation form, or on this form, marked with a different color ink. We have reviewed this evaluation together.

Supervisor signature_____Dated_____

I have received a full explanation of this evaluation. I understand that my signature does not necessarily indicate my agreement. I have provided additional comments below.

Additional comments from fellow:

Fellow signature_____Dated _____

Appendix B

Due Process in Action: The Identification and Management of Trainee Problems/Grievances

DUE PROCESS IN ACTION: THE IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT OF TRAINEE PROBLEMS/GRIEVANCES Johns Hopkins All Children's Hospital Psychology Services

Introduction

This document provides psychology trainees and training staff with an overview of the identification and management of trainee problems and concerns, a listing of possible sanctions and an explicit discussion of the due process procedures. Also included are important considerations in the remediation of problems. We encourage staff and trainees to discuss and resolve conflicts informally, however if this cannot occur, this document was created to provide a formal mechanism for JHACH to respond to issues of concern. This Due Process Document is divided into the following sections:

I <u>Definitions</u>: Provides basic or general definitions of terms and phrases used throughout the document.

II <u>Procedures for Responding to a Trainee's Problematic Behavior</u>: Provides our basic procedures, notification process, and the possible remediation or sanction interventions. Also includes the steps for an appeal process.

III <u>Grievance Procedures</u>: Provides the guidelines through which a trainee can informally and formally raise concerns about any aspect of the training experience or work environment. This section also includes the steps involved in a formal review by JHACH of the trainee.

I. **Definitions**

<u>Trainee</u>

Throughout this document, the term "trainee" is used to describe any person in training who is working in the agency including a practicum student, predoctoral intern or postdoctoral resident.

Training Director (TD)

Throughout this document the term Training Director (TD) is used to describe the staff member who oversees the predoctoral interns training activities.

Due Process

The basic meaning of due process is to inform and to provide a framework to respond, act or dispute. Due process ensures that decisions about trainees are not arbitrary or personally based. It requires that the Training Program identify specific procedures which are applied to all trainees' complaints, concerns and appeals.

Due Process Guidelines

1. During the orientation period, trainees will receive in writing JHACH expectations related to professional functioning. The TD will discuss these expectations in both group and individual settings.

- 2. The procedures for evaluation, including when and how evaluations will be conducted will be described. Such evaluations will occur at meaningful intervals.
- 3. The various procedures and actions involved in decision-making regarding the problem behavior or trainee concerns will be described.
- 4. The TD will communicate early and often with the trainee and when needed the trainee's home program if any suspected difficulties that are significantly interfering with performance are identified.
- 5. The TD will institute, when appropriate, a remediation/Performance Improvement plan for identified inadequacies, including a time frame for expected remediation and consequences of not rectifying the inadequacies.
- 6. If a trainee wants to institute an appeal process, this document describes the steps of how a trainee may officially appeal this program's action.
- 7. JHACH due process procedures will ensure that trainees have sufficient time (as described in this due process document) to respond to any action taken by the program before the programs implementation.
- 8. When evaluating or making decisions about a trainee's performance, JHACH staff will use input from multiple professional sources.
- 9. The TD will document in writing and provide to all relevant parties, the actions taken by the program and the rationale for all actions.

Problematic Behavior

Problematic Behavior is defined broadly as an interference in professional functioning which is reflected in one or more of the following ways:

- 1. An inability and/or unwillingness to acquire and integrate professional standards into one's repertoire of professional behavior;
- 2. An inability to acquire professional skills in order to reach an acceptable level of competency; and/or
- 3. An inability to control personal stress, strong emotional reactions, and/or psychological dysfunction which interfere with professional functioning.
- 4. Exhibiting behaviors inconsistent with the JHACH Core Values

It is a professional judgment when a trainee's behavior becomes problematic rather than of concern. Trainees may exhibit behaviors, attitudes or characteristics which, while of concern and requiring remediation, are not unexpected or excessive for professionals in training. Problematic behavior typically become identified when one or more of the following characteristics exist:

- 1. The trainee does not acknowledge, understand, or address the problem when it is identified;
- 2. The problem is not merely a reflection of a skill deficit which can be rectified by academic, didactic training, or supervision;
- 3. The quality of services delivered by the trainee is sufficiently negatively affected;
- 4. The problem is not restricted to one area of professional functioning;
- 5. A disproportionate amount of attention by training personnel is required; and/or
- 6. The trainee's behavior does not change as a function of feedback, remediation efforts, and/or time.

II. Procedures to Respond to Problematic Behavior

A. Basic Procedures

If a trainee receives an "unacceptable rating" from any of the evaluation sources in any of the major categories of evaluation, or if a staff member or another trainee has concerns about a trainee's behavior (ethical or legal violations, professional incompetence) the following procedures will be initiated:

- 1. In some cases, it may be appropriate to speak directly to the trainee about these concerns and in other cases a consultation with the TD will be warranted. This decision is made at the discretion of the staff or trainee who has concerns.
- 2. Once the TD has been informed of the specific concerns, they will determine if and how to proceed with the concerns raised. Consultation with JHACH Human Resources will also occur.
- 3. If the staff member who brings the concern to the TD is not the trainee's supervisor, the TD will discuss the concern with the supervisor(s).
- 4. If the TD and supervisor(s) determine that the alleged behavior in the complaint, if proven, would constitute a serious violation, the TD will inform the staff member who initially brought the complaint, in coordination with JHACH Human Resources
- 5. The TD will meet with the Internship Training Committee to discuss the concern.
- 6. The TD will meet with the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work and when necessary the Clinical Director and Human Resources to discuss the concerns and possible courses of action to be taken to address the issues.
- The TD, supervisor(s), Human Resources and Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work may meet to discuss possible course of actions, (as listed in II B below).

B. Notification Procedures to Address Problematic Behavior or Inadequate Performance

It is important to have meaningful ways to address problematic behavior once identified. In implementing remediation or sanctions, the training staff must be mindful and balance the needs of the problematic trainee, the clients involved, members of the trainee's training group, the training staff, other agency personnel, and the hospital community. All evaluative documentation will be maintained in the trainee's file. At the discretion of the Training Director (in consultation with the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work) – the trainee's home academic program will be notified of any of the actions listed below.

- 1. <u>Verbal Notice</u> to the trainee emphasizes the need to discontinue the inappropriate behavior under discussion. As per HR policy, a counseling may be completed at this time with the trainee given opportunity to appeal.
- 2. <u>Written Notice</u> to the trainee formally acknowledges:
 - a) that the TD is aware of and concerned with the behavior,
 - b) that the concern has been brought to the attention of the trainee,
 - c) that the TD will work with the trainee to rectify the problem or skill deficits, and
 - d) that the behaviors of concern are not significant enough to warrant more serious action.
- 3. <u>Second Written Notice to the trainee will Identify Possible Sanction(s)</u> and describe the remediation plan (see below). This plan will contain:

- a) a description of the trainee's unsatisfactory performance;
- b) actions needed by the trainee to correct the unsatisfactory behavior;
- c) the time line for correcting the problem;
- d) what sanction(s) may be implemented if the problem is not corrected; and
- e) notification that the trainee has the right to request an appeal of this action (see Appeal Procedures Section II D).

At any time in the above process, a trainee may have a hearing whereby the intern is entitled to hear and respond to the concerns.

If at any time a trainee disagrees with the aforementioned notices, the trainee can appeal (*see Appeal Procedures - Section II D*).

C. <u>Remediation and Sanctions</u>

The implementation of a remediation/Performance Improvement plan with possible sanctions should occur only after careful deliberation and thoughtful consideration of the TD, relevant members of the internship training staff, JHACH Human Resources, and the Director of Psychology and Neuropsychology. The remediation and sanctions listed below may not necessarily occur in that order. The severity of the problematic behavior plays a role in the level of remediation or sanction.

- <u>Schedule Modification</u> is a time-limited, remediation-oriented closely supervised period of training designed to return the trainee to a more fully functioning state. Modifying a trainee's schedule is an accommodation made to assist the trainee in responding to personal reactions to environmental stress, with the full expectation that the trainee will complete the traineeship. This period will include more closely scrutinized supervision conducted by the regular supervisor in consultation with the TD. Several possible and perhaps concurrent courses of action may be included in modifying a schedule. These include:
 - a) increasing the amount of supervision, either with the same or additional supervisors;
 - b) change in the format, emphasis, and/or focus of supervision;
 - c) recommending personal therapy (a list of community practitioners and other resources are available thought CONNECT at JHACH and EAP).
 - d) reducing the trainee's clinical or other workload;
 - e) requiring specific academic coursework.

The length of a schedule modification period will be determined by TD, internship supervisor(s) and the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work. The termination of the schedule modification period will be determined, after discussions with the trainee, by the TD, internship supervisor(s) and the Director of Psychology and Neuropsychology.

2. <u>Probation</u> is also a time limited, remediation-oriented, more closely supervised training period. Its purpose is to assess the ability of the trainee to complete the traineeship and to return the trainee to a more fully functioning state. Probation defines a relationship in which the TD systematically monitors for a specific length of time the degree to which the trainee addresses, changes and/or otherwise improves the behavior associated with the inadequate rating in conjunction with JHACH Human Resources. The trainee is informed of the probation in a written statement that includes:

- a) the specific behaviors associated with the unacceptable rating;
- b) the remediation plan for rectifying the problem;
- c) the time frame for the probation during which the problem is expected to be ameliorated, and
- d) the procedures to ascertain whether the problem has been appropriately rectified.

If the TD determines that there has not been sufficient improvement in the trainee's behavior to remove the Probation or modified schedule, then the TD will discuss with the internship supervisor(s) and the Director of Psychology and Neuropsychology possible courses of action to be taken. The TD will communicate in writing to the trainee that the conditions for revoking the probation or modified schedule have not been met. This notice will include a revised remediation plan, which may include continuation of the current remediation efforts for a specified time period or implementation of additional recommendations. Additionally, the TD will communicate that if the trainee's behavior does not change, the trainee will not successfully complete the training program.

- 3. <u>Suspension of Direct Service Activities</u> requires a determination that the welfare of the trainee's client(s) or the campus community has been jeopardized. When this determination has been made, direct service activities will be suspended for a specified period as determined by the TD in consultation with the trainee's supervisor(s), JHACH leadership, JHACH Human Resources, and Director of Psychology and Neuropsychology. At the end of the suspension period, the trainee's supervisor(s) in consultation with the TD will assess the trainee's capacity for effective functioning and determine if and when direct service can be resumed.
- 4. <u>Administrative Leave</u> involves the temporary withdrawal of all responsibilities and privileges at JHACH. If the Probation Period, Suspension of Direct Service Activities, or Administrative Leave interferes with the successful completion of the training hours needed for completion of the traineeship, this will be noted in the trainee's file and the trainee's academic program will be informed. The TD will inform the trainee of the effects the administrative leave will have on the trainee's stipend and accrual of benefits.
- 5a. <u>Dismissal from the Training Program</u> involves the permanent withdrawal of all agency responsibilities and privileges. When specific interventions do not, after a reasonable time period, rectify the problem behavior or concerns and the trainee seems unable or unwilling to alter her/his behavior, the TD will discuss with the Director of Psychology and Neuropsychology the possibility of termination from the training program or dismissal from the agency. Either administrative leave or dismissal would be invoked in cases of severe violations of the APA Code of Ethics, JHACH Policies, or when imminent physical or psychological harm to a client is a major factor, or the trainee is unable to complete the training program due to physical, mental or emotional illness. The Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work will make the final decision about dismissal in collaboration with JHACH Human Resources and JHACH Leadership.

5b. Immediate Dismissal involves the immediate permanent withdrawal of all agency responsibilities and privileges. Immediate dismissal would be invoked but is not limited to cases of severe violations of the APA Code of Ethics, JHACH policies and procedures, or when imminent physical or psychological harm to a client is a major factor, or the trainee is unable to complete the training program due to physical, mental or emotional illness. In addition, in the event a trainee compromises the welfare of a client(s) or the campus community by an action(s) which generates grave concern from the TD, the supervisor(s), or the Director of Psychology and Neuropsychology may immediately dismiss the trainee from JHACH in collaboration with JHACH Human Resources and JHACH leadership. This dismissal may bypass steps identified in notification procedures (Section IIB) and remediation and sanctions alternatives (Section IIC). When a trainee has been dismissed, the Training Director will communicate to the trainee's academic department that the trainee has not successfully completed the training program. If at any time a trainee disagrees with the aforementioned sanctions, the trainee can implement Appeal Procedures (Section II D).

D. Appeal Procedures

In the event that a trainee does not agree with any of the aforementioned notifications, remediation or sanctions, or with the handling of a grievance – the following appeal procedures should be followed:

- 1. The trainee should file a formal appeal in writing with all supporting documents, with the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work and JHACH Human Resources. The trainee must submit this appeal within 5 work days from their notification of any of the above (notification, remediation or sanctions, or handling of a grievance).
- 2. Within three work days of receipt of a formal written appeal from a trainee, the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work will consult with members of the JHACH HR/Leadership Management Team and then decide whether to implement a Review Panel or respond to the appeal without a Panel being convened.
- 3. In the event that a trainee is filing a formal appeal in writing to disagree with a decision that has already been made by the Review Panel and supported by the Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work then that appeal is reviewed by the Director of Psychology and Neuropsychology in consultation with the JHACH HR/Leadership Management Team. The Director of Psychology, Neuropsychology, and Social Work will determine if a new Review Panel should be formed to reexamine the case, or if the decision of the original Review Panel is upheld.

III. Grievance Procedures

- A. In the event a trainee encounters difficulties or problems (e.g. evaluation, poor supervision, unavailability of supervisor(s), workload issues, personality clashes, other staff conflicts) during his/her training program, a trainee can:
 - 1. Discuss the issue with the staff member(s) involved;
 - 2. If the issue cannot be resolved informally, the trainee should discuss the concern with the TD who may then consult with other staff members, or the Director of

Psychology and Neuropsychology if needed (if the concerns involve the TD, the trainee can consult directly with the Director of Psychology and Neuropsychology);

- 3. If the TD and/or Director cannot resolve the issue of concern to the trainee, the trainee can file a formal grievance in writing with all supporting documents, with the Director, JHACH leadership, and JHACH Human Resources.
- B. When the Director has received a formal grievance, within three work days of receipt, the Director will implement Review Procedures as described below and inform the trainee of any action taken.

C. <u>Review Procedures / Hearing</u>

- 1. When needed, a Review Panel will be convened by the Director to make a recommendation to the Director about the appropriateness of a Remediation Plan/Sanction for a Trainee's Problematic Behavior OR to review a grievance filed by the trainee.
 - a. The Panel will consist of three staff members selected by the Director with recommendations from the TD, a representative of JHACH Human Resources, and the trainee who filed the appeal or grievance. The Director will appoint a Chair of the Review Panel.
 - b. In cases of an appeal, the trainee has the right to hear the expressed concerns of the training program and have an opportunity to dispute or explain the behavior of concern.
 - c. In response to a grievance, the trainee has a right to express concerns about the training program or JHACH staff member and the JHACH program or staff has the right and responsibility to respond.
- 2. Within five (5) work days, a Panel will meet to review the appeal or grievance and to examine the relevant material presented.
- 3. Within three (3) work days after the completion of the review the Panel will submit a written report to the Director, including any recommendations for further action. Recommendations made by the Review Panel will be made by majority vote if a consensus cannot be reached.
- 4. Within three (3) work days of receipt of the recommendation, the Director will either accept or reject the Review Panel's recommendations. If the Director rejects the recommendation, the Director may refer the matter back to the Panel for further deliberation and revised recommendations or may make a final decision.
- 5. If referred back to the Panel, a report will be presented to the Director within five (5) work days of the receipt of the Director's request of further deliberation. The Director then makes a final decision regarding what action is to be taken and informs the TD.
- 6. The TD informs the trainee, staff members involved and necessary members of the training staff of the decision and any action taken or to be taken.
- 7. If the trainee disputes the Director's final decision, the trainee has the right to appeal through following steps outlined in Appeal Procedures (Section IID).